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In 2014 Westminster City Archives were awarded £92,000 by the 
Heritage Lottery Fund to mark the centenary of World War 1.   

The focal point of the project is a school’s initiative based 
around Michael Foreman’s fictional story ‘War Game’ telling 
the tragic story of a young football team that goes to war, 
experiences the Christmas Truce but are tragically killed 
together in battle.  Throughout 2014 and 2015 we have 
been working with volunteers and students developing 
this resource that will be used in schools to help children 
understand the real life horrors of war and the impact on 
real peoples lives.  

The project and resource has focussed on the story of 
London-born Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting (1884-1917), father 

of three, pre-war goalkeeping star and 17th Middlesex (Football 
Battalion) Regiment soldier.  His extraordinary personal history 

combines sporting prowess, patriotism, reckless desertion, and then redemption by brave 
military service and tragic loss in battle

On 17th November 2014, The City of Westminster Archives, brought together ten schools 
from Westminster, Hammersmith and Fulham and Kensington and Chelsea to the Abbey 
Community Centre in Westminster to participate in a musical commemoration of the lives of 
a group of local men who were lost in the 1914-18 War.  Pom Pom was one of those stories 
commemorated.   

Peter Daniel, Westminster City Archives April 2015

Introduction
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Kent and Sussex Courier 16th February 1923

When the Hove War Memorial was 

unveiled on 27th F
ebruary 1921 a sim

ple 

bunch of carnation
s was left on it wit

h the 

words, “To the Dad I never knew.”

Was this little Joe Whiting?
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Waiting for Zero

It’s 3 a.m.  I can’t sleep.  I’ve got a bad feeling about this one, reckon my number might 
just be up this time. In an hour and half, the time it takes to play a match, I might be 

brown bread* because when that whistle blows we won’t be playing under F.A. rules and 
though some of us might win a medal the only trophy we’ll collect is a pile of bricks they 
once called Oppy Village.  If I try to close my eyes to shut out the fear it just makes it 
worse, as all I see are ghosts -people and places that have brought me to this muddy hole 
in France.  They flash past in a whirl, the story of my life.                        (*brown bread=dead)

Oppy was a village close to Vimy in northern 
France. Fortified by the Germans, it was not 
captured until September 1918. John Nash’s 
painting shows the brutal landscape where Pom 
Pom met his death. No Man’s Land is devastated 
by shell holes which have been turned into 
lakes, shelters dug deep in the ground, and 
trenches with cemented floors and arches 
reinforced by sheet metal, a cold place dead to 
the world. Imagine Pom Pom as the figure with 
his head to the ground waiting for zero hour.

‘Oppy Wood’ 1917 John Nash - IWM DSC2374 

 Scaling ladders in front 
line trenches on the day prior to the 

opening of the Arras offensive, 9th April 1917.  
IWM Q 6229 
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Now if I’m going to tell my story I suppose I should start from where it all began. I 
came into this world on the 6th January, 1883. You probably know me now as ‘Pom 

Pom’ or Bob Whiting, but that’s not my real name.  Chelsea and Brighton fans could have 
been cheering Bobby Greenhalf because that’s the name you’ll find on my birth certificate.  
Don’t ask me why -it’s a long story and I’d get in a right two and eight* explaining it to 
you– and here’s another thing ... I’m a Cockney born and bred so rhyming slang is second 
nature to me.       (* two and eight = state)

A Cockney Born and Bred

Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting was born on 6th January, 1883 under the name of ‘Robert Greenhough’, he 
was brought up in Canning Town. His parents were Robert Greenhalf (born 1852, Whitechapel, London) 
and Margaret Gorman (born 1857, Southwark, Surrey).  Pom Pom’s father had been brought up by his stepfather 
Robert Whiting, he was so fond of him that he changed the family name to Whiting.  

“Canning Town is the child of the 
Victoria Docks ... poorer labourers live 
there, because they cannot afford to go 
farther, and there become debased.”    
Charles Dickens Household Words Issue 390 1857

In the centre of the photograph 
(left) are Pom Pom’s Grandma 
Whiting (ex Greenhough and 
step Grandad (Bob Whiting), left 
is his sister Nel (Helen) and right 
is his dad Robert. It was taken 
about 1910 outside their house 
at Rayleigh, Essex. Bob Whiting 
had been an excellent step 
father to Pom Pom’s dad and 
they all loved him.
 Whiting Family Collection Peter Burgess 
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Source 1. Birth Certificate 1883



Mum had been a match girl before I came along and so Dad always joked she’d 
“struck it lucky” when she met him!  She’d never admit it to him but I know she 

was grateful to leave Bryant and May’s factory in Bow to bring a family up with him in 
Canning Town.  “Nothing’s more important than family” she used to say.  I would have 
done anything for my old mum. Wanted to make her proud of me. Sadly  she died young 
so never saw me make it as a footballer.  Not that football glory would 
have impressed her.  Family was the thing for her and as her eldest 
child she made sure I never forgot that.

The Bryant and May Match Factory Bow
At the Bryant and May factory in Bow, where ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting’s 
mother Maggie had worked before he was born, the workers were 
largely young women like her who  worked 14 hour days for less 
than five shillings (25p) a week (see picture below).
Conditions were harsh. For example, turning up late for work 
meant a fine of a half day’s pay. On top of all this, the work itself 
was unusually hazardous. 
The phosporous used to make the matches caused yellowing of 
the skin and hairloss. Worse still was phossy jaw, a form of bone 
cancer.

Socialist campaigner Annie Beasant’s (above) 
revelations about the awful conditions for 
girls at Bryant & May caused a public outcry. 
The firm tried to stop the girls talking to 
her by making them sign a gagging order.  
Those who refused were sacked but the 
1,400 girls at the factory went on strike to 
support them.  After three weeks of action, 
Bryant and May caved in. They agreed to 
re-employ the sacked organiser and end the 
fines system.  The girl’s victory was a major 
step forward for trades unionism and also for 
women as a political force.
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Source 2. Match Girls



Growing up I lived for kick-abouts in the street with my mates, but with so many 
mouths to feed in our family the pressure was on me, as the eldest, to help out by 

earning a few bob.*  As soon as I left school, aged 14, I went to look for work.  Each 
morning I’d join the crowds pouring through the gates of the Victoria Docks to fight for 
casual work at what was known as the ‘call on.’ Once inside we’d rush towards particular 
spots and wait ’on the stones’ for the ‘calling foremen’ to appear. You had to scramble 
over those beside you to catch his eye and if you were lucky he’d call out your name and 
give you a days work unloading cargo ships. If you could survive that then no bully on 
the football field was ever going to scare you! It was the survival of the fittest and I was a 
survivor.                             							      *(bob= a shilling or 5p)

Survival of the Fittest

The Victoria Docks dominated Canning Town and provided casual labour for the 
poor who lived in the awful slums bordering the dock gates.

“You can imagine for a moment 
from 1,500 to 2,000 men crowded 
together, the front men forced up 
against the chain: the back men are 
climbing over the heads of those 
in front, and the contractor behind 
the chain is picking out the men, 
generally his own favourites.
I myself have had eight or ten 
men upon my shoulders and my 
head, and I have been hurt several 
times in a struggle for employment 
like that.” “Unless a man is very 
strong,” says another witness, 
“there is a great possibility of his 
clothes being torn off his back.”
The Times 1889

Dockers waiting on the 
stones for a days work.

4

Source 3. Docklands Map



Pom Pom’s father Robert (Greenhalf) Whiting, pictured right 
in 1936 aged 85, worked at Thames Iron Works (pictured 
above) which was close to their home in Canning Town.  

Picture Peter Burgess Whiting Family Collection

First Name Surname Relation to Head Age Occupation Place of Birth

Robert Whiting Head 36 Boilermaker City Road Middx
Margaret Whiting Wife 36 Peckham Surrey
Robert Whiting Son 8 Scholar Barking Road Essex
Edward Whiting Son 6 Scholar Barking Road Essex
Ellen Whiting Dau 5 Scholar Bow Road Essex
Martha Whiting Dau 3 Barking Road Essex
Polly Whiting Dau 1 Beaconsfield Road Essex
Frederick Whiting Son 3 months Beaconsfield Road Essex
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Source 4. 1891 Census Canning Town



The Dockers Union tried to help us by organising strikes to improve the terrible 
conditions we worked under in the dock, but I knew from day one that I had to try 

and find a way out.  “Gawd ‘elps ‘em that ‘elps ‘emsleves”  Dad used to say and he pulled 
in a few favours to get me a job at the Thames Iron Works where he worked as a boiler 
maker.  Instead of unloading ships, I was now helping to make ’em.  Looking back I 
suppose I should thank that German Kaiser Bill too.  As long as he was about, Dad said, 
the Royal Navy would keep us in overtime making sure they stayed one step and several 
dreadnoughts* ahead of the Germans.                                               *(dreadnought =battleship)

This 1909 
cartoon 

in Puck shows 
US, Germany, 
Britain, France 
and Japan were 

engaged in a 
naval armed 

race.

Kaiser Bill – Kaiser Wilhelm of Germany - was 
Queen Victoria’s grandson and was envious of his 
cousin King George V’s navy.
W.K. Haselden Daily Mirror, 25.9.14

RMG C6851

The naval race between 
Germany and Great 
Britain between 1906 
and 1914 created 
huge friction between 
both nations and 
it is seen as one of 
the causes of World 
War One.  In 1906, 
Britain launched the first 
dreadnought - a ship that 
meant all others were 
redundant before its 
awesome fire power. 
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The Japanese warship 
‘Shikishima’ is launched 
at the Thames Iron works, 
1898.



The Irons

Soon after I began my apprenticeship at Thames Iron Works, word got around that 
I was a useful goalkeeper and I was asked to go for a trial at the Memorial Ground, 

where our newly re-named work’s team, West Ham United, played.  I’d queued up to see 
the governor of the Iron Works, Mr Arnold Hills, open the ground to mark the Diamond 
Jubilee of Queen Victoria. Now sadly the old Queen had passed away, but as our new 
king, Edward VII, took to the throne, in 1902, I took my first step towards becoming a 
professional footballer with the team we still called ‘The Irons.’

West Ham United was founded as the 
Thames Ironworks team in 1895. They 
have two nicknames: ‘The Irons’ and ‘The 
Hammers’ and these both relate to the club’s 
origin as an Ironworks team. The club was 
renamed West Ham United in 1900. 

The club was 
founded by the 
owner of Thames 
Iron Works Arnold 
Hills (left) as an 
amateur club for 
the workforce.  He 
severed his ties 
with them when 
they decided to 
turn professional. 

A little under six foot tall and 
weighing around 12 stone, Bob 
Whiting was naturally suited to the 
role of goalkeeper. Although he 
showed promise as a goalkeeper, Bob 
Whiting only made the Reserve Team 
of West Ham United. After a couple 
of years in the Reserves of West Ham 
United  he decided to move and in 
1904 he decided to move on to South 
West Ham F.C.

An early match at Thames Iron Works memorial Ground in Canning Town

Illustration of 
Pom Pom Whiting
Michael Foreman
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Source 5. Pom Pom’s First Club



First Name Surname Relation to Head Age Occupation Place of Birth

Robert Whiting Head 49 Boilermaker
(Ironworks)

London

Robert Whiting Son 18 Labourer Canning Town Essex
Edward Whiting Son 17 Labourer Canning Town Essex
Ellen Whiting Dau 15 Canning Town Essex
Martha Whiting Dau 14 Canning Town Essex
Mary Ann Whiting Dau 12 Scholar Canning Town Essex
Frederick Whiting Son 10 Scholar Canning Town Essex
James Whiting Son 7 Scholar Canning Town Essex

Joseph Whiting Son 4 Canning Town Essex

Dockers in the Victoria Docks (pictured below right) 
had no job security under the casual system that 
existed there.  Thames Iron Works offered job security 
and a caring employer in John Hills, who wanted to 
create loyalty in his workforce by looking after them 
through providing sports and recreational activities 
outside of work.   In the early 1900s, Bob ‘Pom Pom’ 
Whiting and his younger brother Edward Whiting were 
both employed as labourers in the local docks. Pom 
Pom later found employment with the Thames Iron 
Works and the out of work sports facilities gave him his 
first step towards a professional football career.
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Source 6. 1901 CENSUS Canning Town



Pom Pom of the Rangers

After a couple of years in the Irons’ reserves I decided that if I wanted to be a 
professional I needed first team football.  After a brief spell at South West Ham F.C. I 

moved to Tunbridge Wells Rangers.  I even had a nickname now ‘Pom Pom’ because my 
powerful goal kicks reminded the fans of the Vickers gun they had used in the Boer War.
Everyone did their best to make me feel at home, but Tunbridge Wells was as different 
to Canning Town as chalk is to cheese. It wasn’t until I took lodgings in the town and 
met my Nellie that I stopped missing London.  She lived with her dad Bill, a builder, and 
earned her living taking in washing.  

Hiram Maxim originally designed the 
Pom Pom in the late 1880s as an enlarged 
version of the Maxim machine gun. The 
gun became famous during The Boer War 
in South Africa between 1900 and 1902.  
The guns distinctive ‘Pom Pom’ sound soon 
became famous across Britain just as a 
young goalkeeper Bob Whiting was taking 
his first steps into professional football.  
It was the range and power of Robert 
Whiting’s kicking as a goalkeeper that drew 
comparisons to the gun and earned him 
his ’Pom Pom’ nickname. 

Sarah Quinnell (b 1883) was 22 when she met Pom Pom.  She was the 
daughter of William Quinnell, a brick maker’s labourer who lived in St 
John’s Road, Tunbridge Wells. It appears that Sarah (known as ‘Nellie’ to 
her family and friends) was the youngest of nine children.

Essex County Chronicle. 
Feb 24th 1905

Vickers QF 1Pounder 
‘Pom Pom’ gun
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R. Whiting, South West Ham’s 
goalie has earned the sobriquet 
of ‘Pom Pom’ by reason of his 
tremendous kicking and punching. Source 7. ‘Pom Pom’ nickname

A postcard from
Tunbridge Wells from the early 1900s



Nellie and I were soon courting and the happiness she brought me spread to my 
performances for Rangers.  After spending a very happy Christmas with Nell I started 

the New Year of 1906 looking forward to my first appearance in the F.A. Cup.  We had 
been drawn away to Norwich City and the press had already written us off after a heavy 
defeat on New Year’s Day.  However, I knew there would be Football League scouts at the 
game, so I was determined that I would do all I could to prove our critics wrong.  As it 
happened, I had the game of my life and was cheered off the pitch by my teammates at the 
end of the game. We had defied our critics and grabbed a 1-1 draw to take the tie back to 
Tunbridge Wells, but better still somebody tipped me off that I had impressed Chelsea’s 
scout so much they wanted to sign me.

Tunbridge Wells Rangers photographed with the Kent 
Cup in 1907-the first season after Pom Pom had left 
the club.  Pom Pom’s short stay at the club coincided 
with the club playing in the Southern League in season 
1906-07 which at that time was considered the equal 
of the Football League.

On 13th January 1906, Bob Whiting played in goal for Tunbridge 
Wells Rangers in a F. A. Cup tie against Norwich City. Scouts 
for Chelsea Football Club were present at the game and Pom 
Pom’s incredible performance was soon winning admirers.  The 
manner he kept the Norwich forwards at bay impressed the scout 
from Chelsea F.C. who was looking for a replacement for their 
goalkeeper, Billy ‘Fatty’ Foulke.  Chelsea Manager Bill Lewis was 
soon in touch and Pom Pom found himself heading back to London 
to sign for the Football League’s newest team.

Kent and Sussex Courier Friday 4th May 1906
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The New Year opened with an 
unexpected reverse at Sittingbourne in 
the return with New Brompton Amateurs 
and how the Rangers came to lose 4-1 
beats me to this day. After the game 
I pointed out to ‘Pom Pom’ that the 
outlook against the Canaries wasn’t very 
bright, and although I refrain from giving 
his reply, the confidence he expressed as 
to what would happen when they met the 
Southern Leaguers was fully borne out 
by the result.

THE VISIT TO NORWICH

was a very enjoyable one, and going 
down from Liverpool Street with 
Mr Millward and Mr Carr, their 
reminiscences of many first class contests 
at which they had assisted were very 
entertaining. It is needless for me to 
write the story of the match ever again, 
but I shall never forget the splendid 
effort Whiting made and the manner in 
which he was supported by his backs 
and halves. He had an ovation when the 
teams went off, and after that movement 
on the Rangers right resulted in Wilcox 
being beaten by Parkes, one actually 
dared to hope for the visitors success 
as time crept on. Some of the Rangers’ 
executive looked the other way whenever 
the Canaries got near ‘Pom’, who was 
unluckily beaten by a drive from Bushell 
which Livesey might have booted away. 
The end came with honours even, and 
a merry party sat down to dinner at the 
Great Eastern Hotel.

Norwich City 1905-1906. P Daniel

Source 8. F.A. Cup Hero



My Big Break at the Bridge

Shortly after the Norwich game Mr Langdon, the Chairman of Rangers, called me into 
his office and told me that he had accepted an offer from Chelsea and that I had to 

travel up to London to agree terms with their Chairman Gus Mears and Manager Bill 
Lewis.  I took the train from Tunbridge Wells to Victoria and then the short journey 
on the underground to Walham Green.*   Stamford Bridge was home to the Football 
League’s newest club and as I walked towards the club’s offices behind the main stand 
I caught a fleeting glimpse of the pitch. I paused for a second to imagine what it would 
be like to run out there as Chelsea’s keeper.  This was my dream, now I had to make it 
happen. *(Walham Green is now Fulham Broadway)

In 1896, Gus and  Joe Mears purchased 
the Stamford Bridge Athletics Ground with 
the intention of turning it into the country’s 
finest football ground. When he failed to 
persuade Fulham FC chairman Henry Norris to 
re-locate his club to the ground, he considered 
selling the land to the Great Western Railway 

Company.  However when on the verge of abandoning 
his football dream his Scotch Terrier bit his colleague Fred 
Parker, who still supported the idea. So impressed was Mears 
with his friend’s reaction, he decided to take his advice and 
found Chelsea F.C. in 1905.  Mears died in 1912, and his grave is 
in the nearby Brompton Cemetery, London.

Opened in 1877, Stamford Bridge was used by the London Athletic Club until 1905, when new owner Gus Mears founded 
Chelsea Football Club to occupy the ground; Chelsea have played their home games there ever since. It has undergone 
numerous major changes over the years, most recently in the 1990s when it became an all-seater stadium. 

Gus Mears
Billy ‘Fatty’ Foulke Bill Lewis

Chelsea F.C. 1905-06
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Source 9. 
Chairman 
and manager

Source 9. Rangers Lose 
Their Goal-Keeper



Black and white and blue all over. Chelsea’s Stamford Bridge stadium with only one stand as it looked on 
November 7, 1909 (top picture). Stamford Bridge has undergone numerous major changes from the time Pom 
Pom played there, most recently in the 1990s when it became an all-seater stadium (above).   Chelsea F.C.
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Source 10. Stamford Bridge Then and Now



Mr Lewis told me that the team would soon be losing their legendary keeper, 
‘Fatty Foulke,’ who was leaving the club before the end of the season to sign for 

Bradford City.  He told me that I was being signed for Chelsea’s reserves as he had 
promised Micky Byrne, the current reserve keeper, that he would have first shot at 
claiming Fatty’s first team place.  I was more than happy to agree to this and to sign 
my contract.  I won’t tell you how much they gave me but it was nowhere near the 
maximum wage that Fatty had been on which was £4 a week.  In any case if the song 
they sang about him was right, and it was true that he really did eat all the pies, then he 
must have needed the extra cash!

William ’Fatty’  Foulke
William Foulke was Chelsea’s first ever goalkeeper and 
captain and remains one of their most famous players despite 
playing only one season at the club. He was signed for £50 
from Sheffield United where he had won two FA Cup winners 
medals and won one England cap but the Chelsea directors 
had as much an eye on his box office appeal as they had on his 
goalkeeping ability. 

One of the many stories about him concerned an early away 
trip to Burton. At the team’s hotel, Fatty decided to go down 
for dinner early. His song is the infamous, “Who ate all the 
pies?” and that is literally what the goalkeeper did. When the 
rest of the team came down they found that all eleven plates 
had been cleared!

In his one season at the club Foulke played 35 games, 
conceding just 28 goals. In the six games he missed that year, 
17 goals were let in.  He moved back north after one season 
to join Bradford City and he died of cirrhosis in May 1916 aged 
just 42.

Chelsea decided to accentuate Fatty Foulke’s bulky presence by placing two small boys behind his goal who 
would also retrieve the ball when it went out of play and it is believed that these were the first ever ball-boys.  
One of them, James Ridley can be seen behind the goal in the picture above.  He later joined the Football 
Battalion and fought alongside Pom Pom.

James Ridley
Chelsea F.C.
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Source 11. Hull Daily Mail 22nd November 1905



Fatty Foulke left Chelsea F.C. for Bradford City a fortnight before the end of the season 
and as the opportunity of promotion to Division One had gone it was decided that 

Mickey Byrne and I would alternate in goal for the final two matches of the season.  I 
made my Football League debut in the final match of Chelsea’s first ever season against 
the Division 2 Champions, Bristol City. Although I put in a solid performance we were 
unlucky to suffer a narrow 2-1 defeat.  Nevertheless, now I had tasted first team football I 
was determined to stake my claim to be Chelsea’s keeper for the following season.

Bristol City’s Gilligan 
(left) scored the first goal 
that Pom Pom would 
concede in the Football 
League. Despite ending 
on the losing side Pom 
Pom’s first performance 
impressed the watching 
Chelsea directors 
and was reported in 
Tunbridge Wells.  Two 
weeks later Pom Pom 
went on Chelsea’s close 
season tour of Europe.

Pom Pom’s debut came in the last match of  Chelsea’s first ever season in the Football League 1905-06 
against 2nd Division Champions Bristol City.  Billy ‘Fatty’ Foulke had played his last game for Chelsea in 
their home match against Glossop a fortnight before. With no chance of promotion Pom Pom was given his 
chance to impress, (Bristol City 1 - Chelsea 0).

Pos Team P W D L F A GD Pts

1 Bristol City 38 30 6 2 83 28 2.9
64

66

2 Manchester United 38 28 6 4 90 28 3.2
14

62

3 Chelsea 38 22 9 7 90 37 2.4
32

53

Competition: Football League Division 2     Position 3

Venue: date Ashton Gate: Saturday 28th April 1906

Attendance: 14,000

Bristol City Clay, Annan, Cottle, Spear, Wedlock, Hanlin, 
Bennett, Maxwell, Gilligan, Burton, Hilton.

Scorers Gilligan 1st, Burton 2nd

Manager Harry Thickett
Chelsea 1 Bob Whiting, 2 Robert Mackie, 3 James 

Fletcher, 4 Peter Proudfoot, 5 Bob McRoberts, 
6 George Henderson, 7 Martin Moran, 
8 Thomas Miller, 9 Frank Pearson, 10Thomas 
McDermott, 11 Jack Kirwan

Scorer Pearson 88
Debuts Bob Whiting, James Fletcher
Manager John Tait Robertson

Bristol City’s Ashton Gate Ground in 1907

Kent & Sussex Courier. Friday 4th May, 1906
14

Source 12. Chelsea Debut



That summer of 1906 seems like a dream to me now I spend my days in a godforsaken 
muddy trench in France.  If I close my eyes I can still see Mr Lewis’s beaming smile as 

he told me to get measured up for  a new whistle* as I was going on the club’s European 
tour.  I’d never been abroad before and here I was getting suited and booted for Chelsea’s 
first ever trip overseas. I got to visit Denmark, Bohemia, Austria and Hungary and got 
paid for the privilege!  Life can’t get better than that.  Irishman Micky Byrne and I shared 
the keeper duties on tour and I continued the great start I’d had to my Chelsea career.  We 
played ten games and won the lot!                                                          * (Whistle and flute = suit)

Initially, Chelsea played in the racing colours associated with the Earl of Cadogan, who was the club’s president and also 
held the title Viscount Chelsea. Weatherby’s Ltd, who maintain historical records of racing silks, have confirmed that 
these colours were Eton blue and white. Rick Glanvill, the club’s historian has discovered that a more conventional royal 
blue was adopted probably at the start of the 1907-08 season.  

1905 - 1907 1907 - 1911 1911 - 1912 1912 - 1913

First

Jockey Colours Earl of Cadogan

Chelsea F.C. 1907-1908. Pom Pom is standing in the centre of the middle row marked with a red star. Chelsea F.C.
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Source 13. Chelsea Team Group and Kits



Date
M

onth
O

pposition
Result

Score
Venue

13
M
ay

Boldklubben 
1893

W
on

6-2
Copenhagen,   
Denm

ark
14

M
ay

Southam
pton

W
on

2-1
Copenhagen,    
Denm

ark
16

M
ay

Deutscher FC
W
on

4-0
Prague, 
Bohem

ia
17

M
ay

Deutscher FC
W
on

6-1
Prague, 
Bohem

ia
M
ay

Budapesti 
Torna Club

W
on

4-0
Budapest, 
Hungary

M
ay

M
agyar 

Atletikai Club
W
on

6-0
Budapest, 
Hungary

22
M
ay

Ferencvaros 
Terna Club

W
on

3-1
Budapest, 
Hungary

M
ay

Vienna 
Cricket FC

W
on
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ark, Bohem

ia, Austria and Hungary 
just one year after form

ation, w
inning every m

atch.

Kent &
 Sussex Courier. Friday 1st June, 1906
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Chelsea Debut

I    began the 1906-07 season as Chelsea’s reserve keeper behind first choice Mickey 
Byrne and we both knew we had the biggest of all ‘Daisies’* to fill ... Fatty’s!  Mickey 

was picked for the first game against Glossop which the boys won 9-2!  Now after a win 
like that you don’t normally make any changes.  However poor old Mickey dislocated 
his shoulder trying to save a shot and that meant I was in for the next match away at 
Blackpool.  I did well keeping a clean sheet in a goal-less draw and that got me mentally 
ready for my first appearance the following week at Stamford Bridge.   As fate would have 
it this was to be against Bradford City, which meant I’d be up against Fatty himself.  He’d 
been very popular with our fans so I knew I had to do well.     *(Daisy Roots’=boots)

In April 1906 Pom Pom was signed up as a reserve 
goalkeeper for Chelsea F. C. However when Chelsea’s 
regular goalkeeper Michael ‘Micky’ Byrne (pictured 
above between Chelsea founders Gus Mears and Fred 
Parker) was injured in the opening match of the 1906-
1907 season, Bob Whiting was given the opportunity to 
establish himself as the club’s first choice goalie. Between 
1906 and 1908, Bob Whiting made 54 appearances in goal 
for Chelsea Football Club. 

Kent & Sussex Courier. Friday 21st September, 1906
Fatty Foulke
Bradford City
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I can tell you I had butterflies as I ran out of the tunnel with Fatty, but things couldn’t 
have gone any better.  We beat Bradford City 5-1 and even Jimmy Ridley, our ball boy, 

who was very fond of Fatty thought I’d played well in comparison to Chelsea’s former 
goalkeeping ‘Colossus.’

Chelsea defeated Foulke’s Bradford City side 5-1 the first time they met with Whiting in goal.  
Fatty weighed 24 stone and got lots of stick from the crowd.  He didn’t care though, apparently he once said,                                                      

“I don’t care what they call me as long as they don’t call me late for lunch!”
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Mickey’s unfortunate injury was the lucky break I needed and I seized my chance to play 
the rest of the season as Chelsea’s first choice keeper.  We finished runners up to Forest 
by just three points but I didn’t mind as we still got promotion.  As the closest side to 
London’s West End we were the celebrity club and I don’t think I ever stopped signing 
autographs.  My only regret was that mum wasn’t there to see me, although I made sure I 
didn’t forget to include the rest of the family in my success.

Pos Team P W D L F A Goal 
Avg

Points

1 Nottingham 
Forest

38 28 4 6 74 36 2.05
56

60

2 Chelsea 38 26 5 7 80 34 2.35
29

57

3 Leicester 
City

38 20 8 10 62 39 1.58
97

48

As a member of London’s newest 
club Pom Pom was constantly 
in demand for autographs.  He 

appeared on cigarette cards and 
posed for cabinet cards at the 

Gambler and Reeks studios in the 
Fulham Road and he would give 

them to his sister Mary-Ann (above).
Pictures Peter Burgess

Kent & Sussex Courier. Friday 19th April, 1907
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Source 15. Chelsea Triumph
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Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting’s profile published 
in the Chelsea v Burton United programme, 
Football League Division 2,  Saturday 23rd 
February 1907.   Chelsea F.C.

Source 16. Pom Pom Profile



Pom Pom limerick competition published in 
the Chelsea v Leicester Fosse programme, 
Football League. Division 2,  Saturday 29th 
September 1906.   Chelsea F.C.
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At the end of the season I made the biggest and best decision of my life when Nellie 
and I got married near our home in Tunbridge Wells.  Football had been my life up 

to now, but soon I would have a family of my own.  I’m glad of that.  Sometimes losing a 
match or having a bad game can seem like the end of the world when of course it isn’t.  I 
love football but I knew I loved my dear old trouble and strife*  a darn sight more.     
* (trouble and strife = wife)

Challenges at Home and on the Pitch

Nellie and Pom Pom 
married at St John’s 
Church Tunbridge 
Wells.
Peter Daniel

On 12th August, 1907, Robert Whiting married twenty-four year 
old Sarah Nellie Quinnell at St John’s  Church in Tonbridge, Kent. 
On the marriage certificate, Bob Whiting’s bride, Sarah 
Quinnell, gives her first name as “Nellie”. 

4.99
4.99 August 12th, 1907

St John’s Church 
Tunbridge Wells

Robert Whiting

Nelllie Quinell
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24

Batchelor

Spinster

Professional
footballer

89 St John’s Road

89 St John’s Road

Robert Whiting

William Quinell

Boiler 
maker

Labourer
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Kent and Sussex Courier 
Friday 16 August 1907

Source 17. Marriage Certificate



We all had high hopes for the new season but it started disastrously.  We lost our first  
four matches and found ourselves bottom of Division One.  I had a poor game against 
Forest when I let in six so by the time Arsenal came to the Bridge for London’s first ever 
top flight derby the pressure was really on.  There was a lot of local pride at stake and I’m 
pleased to say the Gunners came off second best!

Nov 9, 1907 Chelsea 2 Arsenal 1.  
Attendance: 65,000  
When Chelsea met Arsenal in 1907 it was the first London derby ever played in the top flight. Arsenal Football 
Club was founded in 1886 as a munition workers’ team from Woolwich, then in Kent, now southeast London. 
They turned professional in 1891 and joined The Football League two years later. They were promoted to 
the First Division in 1904 but financial problems meant they were close to bankruptcy by 1910. They were bought 
out by Sir Henry Norris that year and to improve the club’s financial standing, he moved the team to Arsenal 
Stadium, Highbury, north London in 1913. After the First World War he arranged for the club’s promotion back to the 
First Division, in controversial circumstances. 

London Transport Museum

Arsenal programme, 1907 Chelsea F.C.
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Playing with me against the Gunners was my old china* George Hilsdon from West Ham.  
The fans nicknamed him ‘Gatling Gun’ because of the power of his shooting and he scored 
twice in our 2-1 win.  Now you remember I was named after a gun too, so you can imagine 
the fun the papers had with that as Chelsea’s cockney keeper and centre forward outgunned 
the ‘Gunners’ from Woolwich!            		  *china plate = mate/friend

The Curse of the Weather Vane
George ‘Gatling Gun’ Hilsdon (left) – whose five goals 
on his debut in 1906-07 remains a league record, 
scored 98 goals in 150 league games for Chelsea.  
As the club’s first England international he was 
immortalised on a weather vane on the club’s old East 
stand.  It came to be considered as a lucky charm and 
so when the vane was removed for redevelopment of 
the East stand in 1973, Chelsea were relegated and 
almost lost their ground.  Former chairman Ken Bates 
had a replica made for the East stand to reverse the 
club’s fortunes.  In 2013 the original weather vane was 
rediscovered in a shed in a metal foundry in Surrey.

George ‘Gatling Gun’ Hilsdon
10 August 1885 – 10 September 1941 

George was a footballer who 
began his career at West Ham 
United, making his debut in 
the 1903/04 season. Pom Pom 
was playing for West Ham at this 
time and Hilsdon transferred to 
Chelsea in the same year, 1906.  He 
was the first player to score 100 
goals for the West London club, 
reaching a then-record 108 goals 
from 134 games by the time of 
his return to West Ham in 1912. 
His career was ended by the First 
World War, to which he was 
conscripted in 1914 and crucially 
injured by a gas attack.  
Hilsdon was nicknamed ‘Gatling 
Gun’  because his shots “were 
simply unstoppable and which 
travel like shots from a gun.”

Hilsdon’s profile published in the 
Chelsea v Barnsley programme (right), 
Football League Division 2,  Saturday 
24th November, 1906.   Chelsea F.C.

24

Source 19. Pom Pom’s ‘Old China’



Comp Date Home Away Att

League 26 April 1906 Bristol City 2 1 Chelsea 14,000 L
League 8 Sept 1906 Blackpool 0 0 Chelsea 6,000 D
League 15 Sept 1906 Chelsea 5 1 Bradford City 10,000 W
League 22 Sept 1906 West Bromwich Albion 1 2 Chelsea 25,562 W
League 29 Sept 1906 Chelsea 1 0 Leicester Fosse 20,000 W
League 6 Oct 1906 Nottingham Forest 3 1 Chelsea 24,000 L
League 13 Oct 1906 Chelsea 2 0 Lincoln City 10,000 W
League 20 Oct 1906 Burton United 2 1 Chelsea 4,000 L
League 3 Nov 1906 Burslem Port Valley 2 0 Chelsea 5,000 L
League 10 Nov 1906 Chelsea 2 0 Burnley 10,000 W
League 17 Nov 1906 Leeds City 0 1 Chelsea 8,000 W
League 24 Nov 1906 Chelsea 2 1 Barnsley 14,000 W
League 1 Dec 1906 Chesterfield Town 0 0 Chelsea 6,000 D
League 8 Dec 1906 Wolverhampton Wanderers 1 2 Chelsea 8,000 W
League 15 Dec 1906 Chelsea 2 1 Clapton Orient 15,000 W
League 22 Dec 1906 Gansborough Trinity 1 1 Chelsea 3,000 D
League 25 Dec 1906 Hll City 0 1 Chelsea 16,000 W
League 19 Dec 1906 Glossop North End 0 1 Chelsea 4,000 W
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Source 20. Pom Pom’s Chelsea Career 
Match by Match 1906



Comp Date Home Away Att

League 1 Jan 1907 Stockport County 1 2 Chelsea 7,000 W
League 5 Jan 1907 Chelsea 3 0 Blackpool 15,000 W
FA Cup 12 Jan 1907 Lincoln City 2 0 Chelsea 5,000 D
FA Cup 16 Jan 1907 Chelsea 0 1 Lincoln City 11,883 L
League 26 Jan 1907 Chelsea 2 0 West Brom 41,168 W
League 2 Feb 1907 Leicester Fosse 1 1 Chelsea 17,000 D
League 9 Feb 1907 Chelsea 0 2 Nottingham Forest 15,000 L
League 16 Feb 1907 Lincoln City 0 5 Chelsea 3,000 W
League 23 Feb 1907 Chelsea 1 0 Burton United 11,000 W
League 2 March 1907 Grimsby Town 2 1 Chelsea 6,000 L
League 4 March 1907 Chelsea 2 0 Stockport County 8,000 W
League 9 March 1907 Chelsea 2 1 Burslem Portvale 8,000 W
League 16 March1907 Burnley 1 1 Chelsea 7,000 D
League 19 March 1907 Bradford City 6 3 Chelsea 6,000 L
League 23 March 1907 Chelsea 2 0 Leeds City 25,000 W
League 29 March 1907 Chelsea 3 0 Hull City 48,000 W
League 30 March 1907 Barnsley 3 1 Chelsea 5,000 L
League 6 April 1907 Chelsea 7 1 Chesterfield Town 12,000 W
League 13 April 1907 Chelsea 4 0 Wolves 30,000 W
League 20 April 1907 Clapton Orient 0 1 Chelsea 18,000 W
League 27 April 1907 Chelsea 4 1 Gainsborough Trinity 15,000 W
League 7 Sept 1907 Chelsea 2 4 Sheffield United 25,000 L
League 14 Sept 1907 Newcastle United 1 0 Chelsea 35,000 L
League 21 Sept 1907 Nottingham Forest 6 0 Chelsea 20,000 L
League 12 Oct 1907 Chelsea 1 3 Bolton Wanderers 35,000 L
League 19 Oct 1907 Birmingham City 1 1 Chelsea 20,000 D
League 26 Oct 1907 Chelsea 2 1 Everton 50,000 W
League 2 Nov 1907 Sunderland 3 0 Chelsea 13,000 L
League 9 Nov 1907 Chelsea 2 1 Arsenal 55,000 W
League 16 Nov 1907 Sheffield Wednesday 3 1 Chelsea 22,000 L
League 23 Nov 1907 Chelsea 4 1 Bristol CIty 20,000 W
League 30 Nov 1907 Notts County 2 0 Chelsea 12,000 L
League 2 Dec 1907 Chelsea 1 0 Blackburn Rovers 18,000 W
League 7 Dec 1907 Chelsea 2 2 Manchester City 50,000 D
League 14 Dec 1907 Preston North End 2 4 Chelsea 8,000 W
League 21 Dec 1907 Chelsea 3 4 Bury 35,000 L
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Playing in the First Division meant playing under the spotlight.  I had been dropped 
earlier in the season, but had won my place back, before it all went horribly wrong 
against Bury just before Christmas 1907.  We were 3-1 up when I misjudged a cross 
that gifted them a goal and inspired them to come back to win 4-3.  I got quite a bit of 
stick from the crowd, but that’s nothing to what our manager Mr Calderhead said.  In 
between swear words, I discovered I was dropped and came home feeling very sorry 
for myself, until seeing my pregnant wife Nell reminded me there was more to life than 
football.

Chelsea Manager 
David Calderhead 
dropped Pom Pom 
at Christmas 1907.  

Calderhead took over 
from Bill Lewis in July 
1907 and then spent 

almost 26 years at the 
club, making him the 
club’s longest-serving 

manager. 

Pom Pom after his move to Brighton in 1908.
 BHA Collectors’ and Historians’ Society

Nottingham Evening Post - Tues 24 Dec 1907
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Yorkshire Post and Leeds Intelligencer - Mon 23 Dec 1907

Source 22. Dropped by Chelsea



After that disastrous Christmas, Jack Whitley took my place in goal.  I did what I could 
in training and in games to win back the faith of our manager, Mr Calderhead, but 

sadly I would never play for Chelsea’s first team again.  After my last reserve match at 
Stamford Bridge against Norwich on April 30th 1908, he called me into his office.  My 
Chelsea career had began after that cup tie against Norwich two years before.  Now I was 
told it had ended against the very same team.  Nell and I were about to become parents so 
this was the last thing I wanted to hear, so you can imagine how relieved I was when Mr 
Calderhead then told me that Brighton and Hove Albion had been in touch and wanted 
me to join them.

Pom Pom of the Albion

For a working class Londoner like Pom 
Pom Whiting the delights of being beside 
the seaside at Brighton would have been 
irresistible.
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After Pom Pom lost his place in the 
Chelsea goal following his disastrous 
performance against Bury he never 
played for the 1st team again.  His 
last appearance at Stamford Bridge in 
Chelsea colours  came in the reserves 
match v Norwich on the 30th April 1908.  
Chelsea F.C.

Source 23. Transfer to the Seaside



After my transfer to Brighton Nell gave birth to a healthy son we named Robert, after 
yours truly, and the new family Whiting moved down to Hove that summer close season 
of 1908. I’d always loved days out by the seaside, so to actually live by the sea was living 
the dream for me.  It certainly took away the feeling of disappointment I’d felt at leaving 
Chelsea. Nell, baby Bob and I had plenty of time to enjoy our new home that summer 
with long walks along the esplanade and on the beach together.

Peter Daniel
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Brighton and Hove Albion F.C. were 
founded in 1901 and until they were 
elected to the Football League’s new Third 
Division in 1920 they were members of 
the Southern League. The Southern League 
was very strong with teams such as West 
Ham United, Fulham and Spurs playing 
in it. Brighton had previously been Old 
Brightonians, representing the area in the 
FA Cup in the 19th Century. 

BHA Collectors and 
Historical Society

Pom Pom (starred) 
playing for Brighton 
and Hove Albion FC 
cricket match against 
supporters 1912.

BHA Collectors and 
Historical Society



The Goldstone Ground or The Goldstone (below) 
was the home ground of Brighton & Hove Albion 
F.C. between 1902 and 1997. The ground was 
close to where Pom Pom lived in Westbourne 
Street so he could walk to the ground. Brighton 
now play at American Express Community Stadium, 
in Falmer, on the outskirts of the city, following 
the move from their temporary stadium at 
Withdean.  After the sale of the Goldstone to 
private developers, the area was changed to a row 
of warehouse style retail shops, along with a “drive-
through” Burger King outlet.

A year after moving to Hove to play for Brighton Nellie gave birth to our second son 
William James.  My little Jim (we ended up calling him by his middle name) was born 

in the golden autumn of 1909, when my happy home life was reflected in glory on the 
pitch.  Brighton’s Goldstone Ground was close to where I lived in Hove and I soon built 
up a good rapport with the fans. By the end of the 1909-10 season I had helped Albion 
become Southern League champions.  I treasure that medal to this day and it means far 
more to me than any medal I could ever win in this war.  Our triumph also meant that I 
would have the chance to play against the Football League champions in the F.A. Charity 
Shield match, which would be the curtain raiser for the new season.

Champions of all England

 In the successful 1909-1910 football 
season, Bob Whiting conceded just 28 goals in 
42 matches. He was considered a vital member 
of the Brighton & Hove Albion first team, 
wearing the goalkeeper’s jersey in every game 
of the 1909-1910 season which culminated 
in the Albion winning the Southern League 
Championship title. 
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Fans at a 1910 match v Exeter at the Goldstone
Peter Daniel

Source 24: Brighton 1910 Championship

The Goldstone Royal  Brighton Pavillion and Museums

Brighton and Hove Albion Collectors’ and Historians’ Society



Pom Pom was in 
goal when Brighton 
beat Aston Villa 1-0 
to lift the Charity 
Shield on Monday 
5th September, 
1910 at Stamford 
Bridge. Charlie 
Webb scored 
Brighton’s goal.
Chelsea FC

Sussex Agricultural Express. Fri 21 Oct 1910
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The Charity Shield game between Aston Villa and ourselves, both champions of our 
own leagues, was seen as a decider as to who could call themselves ‘Champions of 

All England.’ To make the game that bit more special to me it was going to be played at 
Chelsea’s Stamford Bridge ground.  I knew Mr Calderhead would be there watching the 
game alongside many of my old team mates, so I was determined to keep a clean sheet 
and show them what they were missing!  In the end that’s exactly how it turned out. I kept 
the Villa forwards at bay whilst my team mate Charlie Webb scored the only goal of the 
match.  Nevertheless it was a bitter sweet moment for me as we held the Charity Shield 
aloft in front of the man who had ended my Stamford Bridge career.

Bob ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting
BHA Collectors’ & Historians’ Society

238 Dyke Road, Brighton 
showing replica of the F.A. 
Charity Shield in the gable.  
This shows how proud 
people in Brighton were of 
their team. 
The Encyclopaedia of Brighton by 
Tim Carder, 1990

Brighton & Hove Albion Champions of All England team
BHA Collectors’ & Historians’ Society
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Pom
 Pom

’s w
ife and children are not listed as living w

ith him
 

in his flat in W
estbourne Street, Hove (below

). They lived in 
Tunbridge W

ells, w
here N

ellie’s fam
ily lived.
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Source 26. 1911 Census Hove
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A footballer’s life, like a soldier’s, doesn’t always fit well with being a family man 
as you are always away from home.  Nell’s father Bill was unwell and so we both 

agreed that she should move back to Tunbridge Wells to help her sister Liz look after 
him.  I found it hard to be away from Nell and the boys but knew it was for the best. 
By the 1913-14 season I’d been Brighton’s first choice keeper for five years.  I was never 
lonely as I had some really close friends amongst my team mates.  We stuck together on 
and off the pitch, but none of us knew then that soon we would be swapping blue and 
white stripes for khaki and that comradeship would be needed onto the battlefield.

Jasper Matthews Batey (1891-1916) was 
nicknamed ‘Ginger’ Batey, after Batey’s 
Ginger Beer, a popular drink.  Batey 
enlisted originally in the 17th Service 
Battalion (Footballers’ Battalion) of the 
Middlesex Regiment. Private Jasper Batey 
later joined the Army Cyclist Corps and 
was killed in action on 23rd October, 1916 
at the age of 25. Private J. M. Batey  is 
buried  in the Cambrin Military Cemetery 
in Northern France.
BHA Collectors’ and Historians’ Society

The players of Brighton & 
Hove Albion Football Team for 

the 1913-1914 Football 
Season portrayed with their 

two trainers in a souvenir 
card produced by Ebenezer 
Pannell, the team’s official 

photographer. Bob Whiting, the 
Albion’s goalkeeper is pictured 
in the middle of the top row.  
This was the final peace time 
season before war broke out.

BHA Collectors’ and Historians’ Society

 ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting, pictured with 
Brighton’s left-half Jasper ‘Ginger’ 
Batey. Both players would perish in 
the First World War.
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I didn’t take much notice of the headlines when Archduke Franz Ferdinand was shot in 
Sarajevo on June 28th 1914.  I was too busy planning my benefit match which Brighton 

had awarded me for six years loyal service. Also like most football fans, I was always more 
interested in reading sporting headlines than grim news from places I’d never heard of.  
When Britain declared war on August 4th it was a different matter.  All the Brighton lads 
were at the Goldstone for pre-season training but all we could talk about was the crisis in 
Europe.  War fever had certainly gripped the nation.  My sister Mary Ann wrote and told 
me that people were smashing up the German shops in London’s East End and I even heard 
that one of my old Chelsea team mates Max Seeburg had been interned as an ’enemy alien.’

War is Declared

After the Archduke Franz Ferdinand  
(right) was assassinated in Sarajevo 
on 28th June, 1914 Europe soon 
found itself plunged into a world 
war. Anti-German riots occurred 
intermittently in British towns and 
cities during the First World War. The 
picture shown right here describes 
damage caused to German bakers’ 
shops in the East London district of 
Poplar shortly after the outbreak of 
war.  Peter Daniel

Max Seeburg was a German footballer who 
played for - Chelsea, Tottenham Hotspur, 
Burnley, Grimsby Town and Reading - between 
1907 and 1914. Seeburg became the first 
European-born foreigner to play in England.  
He was interned in 1914.

Max Seeburg 
(1884-1972)

Rioting against Germans, London , 1914
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Above: Sheffield 
Evening Telegraph 
Saturday 12 Dec 
1914

In those first mad weeks of August thousands flocked to join up.  None of the boys from 
Brighton could as we were all under contract to play that coming season and none of 

us could break our agreements without permission from the club.  This was the situation 
with all professional footballers, but that didn’t spare us from being accused of cowardice.  
One poster pointed out that 90% of rugby players had joined up, but didn’t say they were 
all free to do so as amateurs.  A lot of it was to do with snobbery as most footballers were 
working class lads.  Nevertheless the criticism still hurt and so we were pleased when our 
captain at Brighton,  Archie Needham, decided to do something about it by representing 
us at a meeting the F.A. had called at Fulham Town Hall to discuss the crisis.

At the start of WWI in 1914 rugby and cricket matches 
stopped almost immediately.   Football continued with 
the 1914-1915 season and many citizens were outraged. 
Stamford Bridge is shown on the poster (right).

Recruits in London’s Whitehall. 
Imperial War Museum

Both posters 
courtesy of 

Library of 
Congress

Captain Archie 
Needham.
BHA Collectors’ & 
Historians Society
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Chelsea Programme. 12th December, 1914.   Chelsea FC
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On the 21st November 
match between Chelsea 
and Notts County Colonel 
Charles Burn failed to enlist 
a single Chelsea player or 
fan.  Chelsea responded to 
the criticism they received 
in the match programme 
(above and left).

Chelsea F.C. response to criticism of players 
and fans, December 5th 1914.   Chelsea FC



The Formation of the Football Battalion

Archie took with him my fellow team mates, Ralph Routledge, Frank Spencer and 
John Woodhouse for the meeting just before Christmas 1914.  When we saw them 

at training the next day they told us that they had enlisted with the 17th Middlesex 
(1st Football) Battalion.  This would be one of Lord Kitchener’s ‘Pals battalions’ where 
groups of friends were encouraged to join up and fight together. Apparently, the Football 
Association was keen on forming a battalion of soldiers made up from players and fans 
and were working with Brentford M.P. William Joynson-Hicks to make it a reality.  Our 
lads were persuaded to join  up at the meeting and Archie felt the rest of us should follow 
their example.

On Dec 14, 1914, 
William Joynson-Hicks, 
a Conservative MP and 
future Home Secretary, 
founded the 17th Middlesex 
Regiment at a meeting at 
Fulham Town Hall, which 
would later be known as 
‘the Footballers’ Battalion.  
It was meant as an attempt 
to attract the athletes, in 
hopes that the legions of 
fans would follow their 
example.  Whiting enlisted 
in the 17th on New Years 
Eve 1914.

Sheffield Evening Telegraph Saturday 12th Dec, 1914
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Fulham Town Hall

Source 29. Recruiting for the Football Battalion



Before we could join up, Brighton were playing at West Ham on Boxing Day, 1914.  I’ll 
never forget it as ‘Gatling Gun’, who was now back at the Irons, kept me busy in our  

2-1 defeat.  He wasn’t the only old face I caught up with, as the trip back home to the East 
End meant I could meet up with the Whiting clan for Christmas.  That Christmas also saw 
the famous Truce in the trenches.  “Simply Wonderful” one paper called it as Tommy and 
Fritz laid down their guns, threw down their jackets, and played football instead.

Soldiers on both sides were happy to call an unofficial truce at 
Christmas 1914.  Many German soldiers had lived in London before 
the war and as they spoke English struck up conversations in ‘no man’s 
land’.  One German soldier even enquired about how Fulham had 
got on in the F.A. Cup!  The soldiers of both sides swapped presents.  
British and Empire troops were given a brass tin sent by Princess Mary, 
George V’s daughter . Over 426,000 of these tins were distributed to 
those serving on Christmas Day 1914. The tins were filled with various 
items including tobacco, confectionary, spices, pencils, a Christmas 
card and a picture of the princess.  

Princess Mary Gift tin.   Peter Daniel

Simply Wonderful newspaper article   
National Army Museum
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Football at the Truce ‘War Game’  
Michael Foreman



I agree to allot my pay to my wife.
Robert Whiting.

1 Robert Whiting
2 9 Coleridge Street, 

Hove Sussex
3 Yes
4 30 years 11 months
5 Football Professional
6 Yes
7 No
8 Yes
9 Yes
10 Yes
11 Yes

Archie had told us that we would be allowed to continue to play for Brighton whilst 
we were training and that our seven shillings* a week soldier’s pay would be paid 

on top of our football wages.  Nobody wanted to let him down so thirteen of us took 
the King’s shilling** and enlisted at Hove on New Year’s Eve 1914, before going up to 
Kingsway in London at the end of January 1915 to be officially sworn in as soldiers of 
the Football Battalion.     * (7 shillings is 35p)     ** (Soldiers were paid a shilling a day)

Pom Pom’s attestation.  When somebody signed or enlisted in the army 
they promised to serve their King and country.  This document was kept 
as proof of that promise.  National Archives

‘Pom Pom’ Whiting featured on a post 
card that reads: “Pom Pom, Brighton’s 
Goalie, who amused the crowds with 
his long kicks.” Dated 28th February 
1914 at the club’s Goldstone Ground.
BHA Collectors’ & Historians’ Soc
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Surname: Whiting
Christian 
name:

Robert

Birthplace: West Ham, Essex
Examined: 1st Jan 1915
At: Hove
Declared age: 30 years 334 days
Trade: Football Professional
Height: 5 foot 9 1/2 inches
Weight: 201 Ibs
Chest: 46 inches
Expansion: 4 inches
Physical 
Development:

V (very)
Good

Enlisted at Hove 31st December 1914
Joined on enlistement 
17th Middlesex

Pom Pom’s medical was undertaken at Hove in Sussex on 
31st December 1914.  National Archives

Men having their army medical.

42
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We were the lads that had been crowned ‘Champions of All England.’ We’d shared 
a lot already as team mates on the pitch and now we braced ourselves as a new 

challenge awaited us.  How many of us who’d lined up for our team photograph when 
we’d reported back for preseason training in July would come through it unscathed?  
Who could guess, but as my old dad used to say- ‘You can’t make an omelette without 
breaking eggs,’ and wars aren’t fought without a drop of blood being spilt.

Five players marked 
by a red star were 
killed in WW1. They 
were Charlie 
Matthews (inset, 
left), Bob 
Whiting (centre back 
row), Jasper ‘Ginger’ 
Batey (middle of 
the third row next 
to Mr J. Robson in 
collar & tie), Ernie 
Townsend (last player 
in the third row, next 
to trainer, M. F. Coles) 
and Charlie Dexter (the 
player seated second 
left in the 2nd row.)                                                      
BHA Collectors’ and 
Historians’ Society

Footballers at Kingsway following their enlistment.  Peter Daniel

Footballers marching to White City in January 1915.  Peter Daniel
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Unlike many of the new Kitchener battalions we didn’t have long to wait for our 
uniforms.  These were issued to us at our temporary H.Q at White City, where the 

Olympic games had been held in 1908.  We spent the first few days of our lives as soldiers 
practicing drill and going on long route marches.  These were often from White City to 
the West End where we would rest at the Marble Arch end of Hyde Park before marching 
back again.  The facilities there were quite basic and I had trouble sleeping on the straw 
mattresses that were put out for us on the freezing cold concrete floors we slept on.

Private Pom Pom
Michael Foreman

New recruits being fitted for uniforms. Imperial War Museum

Football Battalion church service White City 1915. Peter Daniel
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Source 33. Training to be Soldiers



One of the lads who joined a week before me was my old ball boy at Stamford 
Bridge, Jimmy Ridley.  It was a few years since I had seen him, but it was good to 

see a familiar face and chat about old times.  It really helped us all settle into army life 
having so many of us already knowing each other.

Ball Boy James Ridley
To emphasise the the size of Fatty Foulke, 
Chelsea hired local boys to fetch the ball when 
it was hit into the space behind the goals 
created by Stamford Bridge’s oval athletics 
track. One of the lucky youngsters can be seen 
on the right of the main photo between Martin 
Moran and Jack Kirwan. He is James Ridley, 
who was aged 13 and living at 7 Stamford Road 
(now Holmead Road), a few doors down from 
The Rising Sun pub, directly opposite the new 
stadium.
As you can see, Foulke’s shorts are almost as 
long as little Ridley’s body. We don’t know what 
money the youngster received, but there are 
stories that Foulke would some-times playfully 
carry the ball boys off the field under his 
arms. The photo was presented to Ridley as a 
memento.
The closeness to his heroes had an enduring 
effect on the young lad. Ridley didn’t make it 
as a professional footballer. However, when 
World War I broke out he joined up and joined 
the 17th Middlesex – the so-called ‘Footballers’ 
Battalion’. He was captured at Cambrai in 
1917 and was a prisoner of war until peace 
returned. In later life, he recalled how, even in 
the darkness of war, it was an honour to serve 
alongside the battallion’s Chelsea F.C. stars.

Attestation. National Archives
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In addition to the players there were lots of fans of clubs like Chelsea, Millwall and Spurs 
who had answered the poster campaign to join up.  Most of the posters I saw made out 

that the war would be like a football match with the winners coming away with the glory 
and a nice medal to match!

Kensington & Chelsea 
Local Studies Imperial War Museum

Library of Congress Imperial War Museum46



Footballer Soldier

Despite our military training we were still allowed to turn out for Brighton in the 
Southern League at weekends.  All of us were fit lads but the military training was 

tough and took it out of us both mentally and physically.  Nonetheless it was great to get 
back to a bit of normality even if it only lasted 90 minutes.

Royal Brighton 
Pavillion and Museum

Albion Sharp Shooters with Pom Pom starred in red. 
BHA Collectors and Historians’ Society

Peter Daniel

Albion Sharp 
Shooters with Pom 
Pom starred in red. 

BHA Collectors and 
Historians’ Society
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‘The Greater Game.’  
Punch cartoon 1914
Mr Punch (to 
Professional 
Association player). 
“No doubt you can 
make money in this 
field, my friend, but 
there’s only one 
field to-day where 
you can get honour.”

Peter Daniel
Hull Daily Mail. Tuesday 30th March 1915

The War Illustrated 18th February 1915.   Peter Daniel
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The Football Battalion played friendly matches as a way of attracting new recruits, 
but not many of the Brighton lads got selected, as there were so many professionals 

to choose from.  More often than not they went for the players that would draw the 
crowds like Vivian Woodward, the Chelsea captain and England centre forward.  He 
was an Olympic gold medal winning celebrity who was wealthy enough to play for fun 
in the First Division of the Football League.  Yours truly couldn’t compete with that!

Vivian Woodward was an amateur player so was never paid 
more than expenses. Originally a Spurs player, he joined 
Chelsea in 1909.  He was England’s record goal scorer with 29 
goals in 23 games and had won two gold medals at the London 
(1908) and Helsinki Olympics (1912) representing Great Britain 
at football.  He was transferred to the Football Battalion and 
would often visit Stamford Bridge where he would march 
around the pitch with a drummer urging fans to enlist.

Captain Vivian Woodward (highlighted) of the 17th Middlesex (1st Football) Btn.   
National Army Museum

Evening Telegraph. Monday 13th March 1916
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Having said that, I did get to play in one Football Battalion match, but this was to be 
against them and not for them. On the 10th March, 1915 a team was sent down to 

Brighton to play us in a fund raising match to buy instruments for our regimental band.  
Seven hundred soldiers from the battalion led us into the Goldstone accompanied by a 
military band playing the Football Battalion’s very own march entitled, ‘Play for Goal.’  
Having not managed to make the Battalion team I got a great deal of satisfaction from 
showing them what they were missing by keeping a clean sheet in our 2-0 win.

William Joynson Hicks (starred in red) with Football Battalion players, 
1915.    National Army Museum

Birmingham Gazette. Wednesday 10th March 1915
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Such a song and dance had been made about the way football had continued in spite 
of the war that it came as a relief when the 1914-15 season came to a close.  The game 

that traditionally brought the curtain down was the F.A. Cup final and for the first time 
in their history Chelsea had made the final.  I was rooting for my old team, but sadly 
they went down 3-0 to Sheffield United.  At the end of the game the cup was presented 
by the Earl of Derby, a great organiser of recruitment campaigns, who urged supporters 
to join the war effort and told the two teams: “You have played with one another and 
against one another for the Cup; play with one another for England now.” 

Chelsea were struggling to get their key men fit for the 
1915 F.A. Cup final, notably one eyed centre forward Bob 
Thomson, who had scored five goals on the road to the 
final. There were rumours that Vivian Woodward, the 
club’s England centre forward, would return from service 
to play a part, but Woodward, ever the gentlemen, said he 
would only be included if Thomson was unfit. Thomson, 
who had dislocated an elbow, was passed fit at the 
eleventh hour and so Woodward sat in the stand to watch 
the Blues 3-0 defeat.1915 F.A. Cup Final programme. Football Association

Chelsea captain Jack Harrow shakes hands with Blades’ 
captain George Utley before the F.A. Cup final at Old 
Trafford on the 24th April 1915

National Army Museum

So many of the 49,557 crowd at the 1915 Cup final were 
soldiers that it became known as the Khaki Cup Final
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Strangely enough a few days after Chelsea’s Cup final defeat I had the chance to play one 
more time at the Bridge.  It was in a South East Counties match for Brighton reserves 

but I volunteered to play as I knew it could be my last chance to play on my old stamping 
ground.

Pom Pom’s 
final match 
at Stamford 
Bridge was 
played 
exactly 
two years 
before 
he was killed in WW1 on 
28th April 1917.  Playing against him was Danish 
international Nils Middelboe, who joined Chelsea 
from Newcastle United as an amateur on the 
advice of Vivian Woodward, who told him he 
would be able to pursue his career in banking 
in London.  He was made club captain on his 
arrival at Stamford Bridge and was Chelsea’s first 
overseas signing to play first team football. He 
played 46 first team games between 1913-22.
(not including wartime matches) scoring 1 goal. 

With the end of the Football 
League at the end of the 1914-15 
season Chelsea’s chairman William 
Claude Kirby helped to establish a 
replacement in the form of a London 
Combination tournament of 12 
teams (including Croydon Common) 
that Chelsea would win by 7 points 
in early 1916.
A second, short competition taking 
in Luton and Reading was also 
scooped by the Pensioners. These 
informal championships lasted until 
the resumption of the League proper 
in 1919, with attendances ranging 
from 2-20,000. 
Danish giant Nils Middelboe (below) 
was a star of these games.       

Chelsea F.C.

The main gates of Stamford Bridge c 1913-14

52

Source 37. Final Game at the Bridge



The Football Battalion Goes to War

With the season over soldiering became our sole focus.  After finishing our basic 
training at White City, we had a brief spell at Cranleigh in Surrey before we were 

transported to Clipstone, a massive army camp near Mansfield, Nottinghamshire. I 
enjoyed it there, perhaps because we had celebrity status with the locals. Finally after 
another month we travelled south to Perham Down in Wiltshire, which was on the edge 
of Salisbury Plain. Here we undertook our final training for armed combat before we left 
for France, landing at Boulogne on 18th November 1915. 

Clipstone Camp was a massive army 
camp of wooden huts which was 
built at Clipstone near Mansfield in 
WW1. While this camp was just one 
of those built to train the men of 
Kitchener’s New Army, it is believed 
to be the largest. 
Peter Daniel

Sheffield Evening Telegraph. Tuesday 6th July 1915

Nottingham Evening Post. Monday 15th November 1915
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Our first billets in France were at a little village called Le Ciseaux, and from there we 
moved to a factory town called Isbergues.  We could hear the guns there and were all 

a little nervous so we were quite relieved to play a bit of football.  Every regiment in France 
had heard we had arrived and wanted to play us, but none of them, understandably, could 
compete with a team of professionals.  There was always quite a bit of banter after the 
games.  On one occasion we met a group of Scots returning from the front line at Bethune 
and when we asked them how things were they told us we were 1-0 down to the Germans 
at half time but they were sure the Football Battalion could grab an equaliser!

Letter extract 7th December, 1915 from Pom Pom to Albert Underwood, Secretary of Brighton and Hove Albion F.C.

“There are only five of us (from the Brighton & Hove 
Albion team) out here doing our bit - myself, Booth, 
Tyler, Woodhouse, and Dexter, and they are very 
pleased to hear from you, and told me to tell you they 
are going on fine. I daresay it has been rotten not 
having or seeing any football. There is plenty out here, 
and we are receiving challenges every minute of the 
day. But we are too good for them all. They are trying 
to pick a team out of the whole Army out here to play 
us, so it will be a big match, though I think we are cer-
tain winners.”                                                                                                            
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Source 39. Pom Pom’s Letter to Albert Underwood. 7th December 1915



Our first taste of the trenches was near the French town of Loos, the location of a 
battle just a month before we had arrived that had claimed 50,000 British casualties.  

The closer you got to the front the more you realised that war wasn’t a game.  Some of 
the stories I’d heard recently were scarcely believable.  The Christmas Truce seemed 
incredible enough, but what was said to have happened at Loos back in September 
seemed even more unbelievable. We had a few lads from the King’s Road who knew some 
of the men that had been there back then.  Apparently one of the London Irish lads, a 
Chelsea boy named Frank Edwards, had actually ‘gone over the top’ to attack the German 
trenches kicking a football and screaming, “On the ball London Irish.”  A case of real life 
being stranger than fiction.

On 25th September, 1915, the men of the London Irish Rifles hatched a plan to dribble six footballs toward the 
German frontline.  On the eve of the Battle of Loos their commander rumbled their plan and using his gun shot out 
five of the balls – but one remained hidden. This belonged to the battalion’s football team captain, Rifleman Frank 

Edwards.  He had grown up close to Stamford Bridge and had joined the 
London Irish at the Duke of York’s barracks in Sloane Square, on 2nd August 
1914.  Edwards had deflated his ball and concealed it under his tunic. Shortly 
before Zero hour, he re-inflated it and defying orders kicked off the ‘Big Push’ 
by punting the football into no man’s land.  Together with his comrades he 
dribbled the ball towards the German lines shouting, “On the ball, London 
Irish.” Edwards who suffered a gunshot wound to his thigh, survived the 
charge, but suffered the effects of the gas that had blown in the faces of the 
footballers for the rest of his life.  

Frank Edward’s story was 
completely forgotten until Ed Harris, 
husband of Edward’s grandaughter, 
Susan (above) found the original 
ball which had been retrieved from 
the battlefield at the London Irish 
barracks in Camberwell. It was 
in poor condition but has since 
been restored to remind us of the 
amazing courage of the London 
Irish.    Ed Harris

The Rifleman pub sign Twickenham Footballer of Loos painting. Ed Harris

Kensington and Chelsea Local Studies
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The attack at Loos had been the first time the British army had used poison gas.  They 
released chlorine gas on the German lines, but the wind blew it back in the faces of 

our own boys who suffered more casualties than the Germans. I experienced my first gas 
attack in April 1916, but by then we had been issued with PH helmets . These were cloth 
gas masks that made us look ridiculous. However that was better than covering your 
mouth with a urine soaked hankie which was what the poor boys had to do before the first 
masks were handed out!

The PH Helmet
The PH helmet was an early type of gas mask issued by the British 
Army in the First World War, to protect troops against chlorine, 
phosgene and tear gases. Rather than having a separate filter for 
removing the toxic chemicals, they consisted of a gas-permeable 
hood worn over the head which was treated with chemicals.
The PH Helmet (Phenate Hexamine) was introduced in October 
1915.  Around 14 million were made and it remained in service 
until the end of the war by which time it was relegated to second 
line use.
The PH Helmet was worn over the head and inside the tunic, the 
collar was then closed about the lower section of the hood for 
protection. The PH helmet is constructed of a double layer of light 
blue-grey flannel, with two glass eye pieces set in metal rims. The 
‘snout’ of the helmet has a metal tube, leading from a rubber 
mouth piece that is held in the mouth, to the outside of the 
helmet, where a rubber valve would be usually found.

Why did soldiers use urine soaked hankies?

Soldiers exposed to gas were told to urinate o
n a 

cloth and cover their mouths and noses with it! The 

ammonia in the urine would neutralize the chlorin
e 

gases commonly used in battle during WWI.

British soldiers line up ready for a game wearing PH helmets.  Bibliotheque de France EL-13 (5310)
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Life in the front line trenches was always tense, but one of the hardest things to cope 
with was the monotony of it.  Sometimes we would be entertained by what was 

happening over our heads as our airman fought with the Germans.  At first we looked 
on these dogfights as if they were some great big football match in the sky, but it soon 
dawned on me that the losers in this ‘big match’ paid with their lives.  Whilst the aerial 
conflict above the trenches never worried me, the news that the Germans were using their 
Zeppelin airships to bomb where my family still lived in the East End really got to me. 

When Lt Reginald Warneford shot down a German air ship in June 1915 he became 
a national hero and was awarded a Victoria Cross.  Warneford died tragically shortly 
after being awarded his medal but his story and image as a ’sportsman’ was used 
in the recruitment campaign.  Warneford is buried besides Stamford Bridge in 
Brompton Cemetery.

Well we are having some exciting times in the “big match” out here. It is 

great sport to see our airmen scoring against the “Allemanges” (German 

troops) - hoping you will excuse the bit of French. Going great guns in the 

French language out here, quite a genius at it.  I hope this will find you 

and all old friends at Brighton in the best of health as it leaves me at 

present. Am looking forward to be playing next season with the old club.”      

 Letter extract 
dated 7th 
December 

1915 from Pom 
Pom to Albert 

Underwood, the 
Secretary of 
Brighton and 
Hove Albion 57

Lt Reginald Warneford destroying airship LZ377 Ralph Gillies Cole Fleet.
Fleet Air Arm Museum

Source 40. The Big Match
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Trench life was hard work too.  We were constantly trying to repair the muddy trenches 
that we found ourselves in.  Sometimes it was very frustrating as we could spend all 

day improving the parapets and then the Germans could destroy everything we had done 
with one well placed shell.  The constant tension in the front line never left you.  However 
quiet or mundane it became as we waited, the peace could be shattered at any moment by 
a German ‘whizz bang’* that would bring death without warning.

*The term ‘whizz bang’ described the noise made by shells from the German 77mm field guns.  The shells they fired 
travelled faster than the speed of sound so a soldier heard the “whizz” noise of a shell before the “bang” issued by 
the gun itself. Hence they had virtually no warning of incoming shells.

Dugout

Sandbags

Barbed wire

Ammunition
ledge

Duckboards

Drainage sump

No-
man’s 
land

Parapet

Fire step

British trench.  War Game Michael Foreman

Cross section showing a typical 
British trench in World War One.
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1.	 Trenches generally formed a zigzag pattern to help protect the trench against enemy attack.
2.	 Fire steps and scaling ladders enabled troops to go ‘over the top’, i.e. to go out into no-man’s-land (the 

area between the opposing armies) to attack enemy trenches.
3.	 Machine guns, one of the most deadly weapons, could fire 600 bullets/minute.
4.	 Trench toilets, called latrines, were usually pits 1.5 metres deep, dug at the end of a short gangway. Each 

company had two sanitary personnel who had to keep the latrines in good condition.
5.	 Earth-filled sandbags helped to shore up the edges of the trenches and absorb bullets and shell 

fragments.
6.	 Duckboards were wooden planks placed across the bottom of trenches and other muddy ground. They 

helped protect men from trench foot and from sinking deep into the mud. Trench foot resulted from 
days standing in water logged trenches; gangrene could set in and result in the amputation of a man’s 
foot.

7.	 Owing to the use of mustard gas and other chemical weapons, all soldiers needed gas masks. Mustard 
gas was almost odourless and took 12 hours to take effect.

8.	 Each soldier had a kit containing nearly 30 kilograms of equipment. This included a rifle, two grenades, 
ammunition, a steel helmet, wire cutters, a field dressing, a spade, a heavy coat, two sandbags, a ground 
sheet, a water bottle, a haversack, a mess tin, a towel, a shaving kit, socks and rations of preserved food.

9.	 Barbed wire helped protect the trenches and also made it very difficult to attack the opposing trench. 
Before an attack, soldiers went out at night to cut sections of wire to make it easier for the soldiers 
in morning raids. Minor cuts and grazes caused by the barbed wire often became infected in the 
unsanitary conditions of the trenches.

10.	The British army employed 300 000 field workers to cook and supply the food for troops. However, there 
was often not enough food to cook. The main diet in the trenches was bully beef (canned corned beef), 
bread and biscuits.

11.	Snow, rain and freezing temperatures drastically slowed combat during the winter months. In hot, dry 
summers, lack of fresh water, scorching sun, and the stench of dead bodies and rubbish made trench life 
equally difficult.

Source 41. Trench Warfare
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Dear Bert
We are having a rest after our first dose of the trenches, and I can tell you 
we have well earned it…I can honestly say it is all work and very little play.  
You feel a bit fatigued in the trenches after you have been there for 24 hours 
building up parapets, which the fellows across the way mow down with their 
whizzbangs.  What delightful toys they are to be sure. But for everyone they 
send our fellows the good old R.F.A. (Royal Field Artillery), give them back 
about twenty, so I suppose they are busy making their rabbit holes look a bit 
shipshape afterwards and  by goodness they must be busy sometimes, as our 
artillery does give them a doing every now and then.
Yours
Pom Pom

Extract from a letter from ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting to Albert Underwood, the Secretary of Brighton & Hove Albion F.C.

British guns in action.   War Game Michael Foreman

60

Source 42. All Work and 
Very Little Play



In January 1916 we lost Captain Woodward when he was wounded by a grenade.  
That man seemed to live a charmed life and it was typical of him that he should get a 

’Blighty’* wound to take him back home.  You can probably guess from my tone that the 
novelty of life out here had well and truly worn off for me. The hardest thing to take was 
the constant tension of waiting on the unknown.  It tested your sanity to think of the 
dreadful things that might happen to you over which you had no control.  Quite a few 
men went down with shell shock.  It struck down my fellow Lance Sergeant, Walter Tull, 
in May 1916 and if it could happen to Walter, who was a brave soldier, it could happen to 
anyone. 
* (Blighty was old Indian army slang for home/Britain. A wound that took you home was known as a ‘Blighty.’)

Walter Daniel John Tull (28 April 1888 – 25 March 1918) 
Walter Tull played for Spurs (1909-11) and Northampton Town (1911-14). He 
was the second Black player in the top division of the Football League, and the 
first Black infantry officer in the British Army. Tull was brought up in a National 
Children’s Home orphanage in Bethnal Green, London, along with his brother, 
following the death of their parents. 
Tull served in the Footballers’ Battalion of the Middlesex Regiment, and was 
commissioned as a Second Lieutenant on 30th May, 1917 despite Military Law 
specifically excluding ‘Non-Europeans’ from exercising command as officers
Tull fought in Italy in 1917–18, and was Mentioned in Despatches for ‘gallantry 
and coolness’ while leading his company of 26 men on a raiding party into 
enemy territory. He returned to France in 1918, and was killed in action on 
25th March, 1918 during the Spring Offensive; his body was never recovered.
Campaigners have called for a statue to be erected in his honour, and  
former Northampton South MP Brian Binley has campaigned for Tull to be 
posthumously awarded 
the Military Cross, which he 
was nominated for his bravery 
in Italy, but never received.

Evening Despatch - Thursday 25th May, 1916
Walter Tull Spurs, 1911. Finlayson Family/Phil Vasili

Captain Vivian Woodward was Chelsea’s captain too. Peter Daniel

Walter Tull.     Finlayson Family/Phil Vasili
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The 1915 Betting 
Scandal that nearly
relegated Chelsea
Coming to the end of 
the 1914-15 season 
there were six teams 
within two points 
of each other at 
the bottom of the 
table. Chelsea were 
on 22, Spurs on 23 
and Manchester 
United with three 
other clubs on 24. On 
Good Friday, 2nd April 

1915 Liverpool visited Old Trafford and lost 2-0. The game 
was a strange one as Liverpool barely seemed interested 
and managed to miss a penalty.  After the game, the FA 
investigated and found that there had been an arrangement 
to fix the result between some of the players of both teams. 
The war was a key factor in the fix as at that time it was 
almost certain that because of it the league would end 
after the 1914–15 season ending the footballing careers of 
everyone then playing. Also, the players perhaps thought 
the diversion of the conflict would lessen the attention that 
would normally be paid to a dubious match result.
Jack Sheldon, (pictured above) a Liverpool player, who had 
formerly played for United, was alleged to have been the 
ringleader and he, together with three other Liverpool 
players, were banned for life. Three United players also 
suffered the same fate. Sheldon protested his innocence 
(see the article on the right) but confessed to having 
arranged the whole thing a couple of years later. All four 
Liverpool players went to fight in the trenches and were 
apparently given a pardon after the war. Of the four only 
Sheldon played for Liverpool again.
At the end of that season, United escaped relegation by one 
point, finishing with 29 points, one ahead of Chelsea (but 
with an inferior goal average) who were in turn one point 
ahead of Spurs.
This lead to another controversial incident when the league 
resumed in 1919. The pre-war First Division had comprised 
20 teams and this was increased to 22 afterwards. The 
assumption had been that the two top teams in the Second 
Division would be promoted and the two teams who should 

One of the footballers out in France with me was Liverpool’s Jackie Sheldon.  He was 
really down when I met him because he had got himself involved in the infamous 

Good Friday match rigging scandal.  Jackie had moved to Liverpool from Manchester 
United and had been accused of accepting bribes to throw the match and allow United to 
claim the points to save them from relegation.  He had received a lifetime ban from the F.A. 
so was worried what he would do once the war was over.  To be honest I always thought 
that was the last of his problems when every day out here might be his last!

have been relegated would be reprieved. This was true 
for Chelsea but not for Spurs. Arsenal had finished fifth in 
the Second Division but chairman Henry Norris somehow 
persuaded the league to promote his team at the expense 
of a reprieve for Spurs. Hence why Spurs historically hate 
Arsenal.

Evening Despatch - Thursday 25 May 1916
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Eastern General 
Hospital, Brighton

23 5 10 29 5 16 scabies 7

Return to Blighty

From the moment I arrived in the trenches I was running alive with lice, it was 
something you couldn’t avoid.  We tried to get rid of the ‘chats’* as we called them 

by running a candle along the seams of our uniform where the little pests would lay 
their eggs.  You could hear the eggs go pop as you did this, but as soon as you put 
your uniform back on you were running alive with them again.  As if that wasn’t bad 
enough there was the Scabies mite.  These little devils burrowed into your skin and laid 
their eggs.  I went down with them in a bad way at the end of May 1916.  For the first 
time since we had come out I had been granted leave to go back home and see Nell 
and the boys.  As soon as she saw the state I was in she packed me off to see the doctor 
and I ended up being admitted to the 2nd General Hospital in Dyke Road, Brighton.                                                                                                                                    
*(this was known as chatting –the word has passed into modern English as a word for talking as chatting was 
always carried out whilst talking with friends)

Scabies is a contagious skin infection caused by a parasitic mite, 
and was common in the trenches during the First World War 
because medics were unfamiliar with its early signs and many 
soldiers reported sick after it was too painful to endure, by which 
time their mates would be infected too. 

Electron 
micrograph of 
scabies mite

Kings ward, 2nd 
Eastern General 
Hospital. Dyke Road, 
Brighton

Admitted to 2 Eastern 
General Hospital whilst 
on leave from France 
and struck off strength 
of Battalion accordingly

Brighton. 
23rd May 
1916
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After seven days in the hospital taking sulphur baths to kill the mites that had infected 
me I was desperate to get out and enjoy being back in Brighton with Nell and the boys 

again. I was issued with my hospital blues* whilst I recovered and I can’t put into words 
how it felt to hold my little’ uns by the hand and stroll along by the sea again. I tried to push 
the thought of leaving them again to the back of my mind, as it broke my heart to think I 
might not live to see them grow up. At least I’d been given this chance to see them again 
unlike those poor Indian lads we saw, who were so far away from everyone they loved.                                                                 
* a blue uniform for wounded soldiers

Scabies has a lot of nicknames including - human itch mite, crabs, skin lice, or 
just plain old mange. It looks like a rash, and the actual cause is nearly impossible 
to see with the naked eye. Scabies is a mite that burrows deep under the skin 
in tunnels where it lays eggs. As horrible as it sounds, scabies is relatively easy 
to treat with a simple sulphur solution. Pom Pom would have recovered quite 
quickly after taking his sulphur baths at the hospital.

7 Treatment Sulphur baths and Sulphur ointment

Wounded Indian troops were nursed at Brighton’s Royal Pavillion. 
Royal Brighton Pavillion and Museums

64

Source 45. Pom Pom’s Hospital Treatment

Scabies is a centuries-old ailment and 
throughout history, as far back as the 
Roman Empire, sulphur has been the 
cure of choice.  



On my last day before reporting back for duty, I wanted to be alone with Nell.  As we 
strolled along the sea front she didn’t have to tell me how she was feeling as I could 

see the look of fear in her eyes. We sat on a bench by the pier and I gazed out to the 
horizon.  Across the sea the mother of all battles was brewing. How could I leave her to 
return to that ?  How could I wave her and my boys goodbye knowing I might never see 
them again?  ‘Family!’ that one simple word kept spinning around in my head. I thought of 
my old mum and in that moment my mind was made up.  I needed more time with them 
so I decided to go A.W.O.L. (absent without leave). I’d have some explaining to do, but 
I’d tell them I was too ill to report back and It would be worth taking the punishment to 
spend a few extra days at home.

Michael Foreman65
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When I decided to go A.W.O.L. in June 1916 I thought it would be just for a few days, 
but those days turned into weeks and the longer it went on the harder it became to 

turn myself in.  The Battle of the Somme or the ‘Big Push’ as the papers called it came on 
the 1st July 1916.  I have to admit I felt bad when I read about the first casualties arriving 
back in Brighton.  As more and more wounded returned rumours started spreading about 
the terrible slaughter that had occurred.  This news only magnified my guilt.  Should I 
stay on the run or hand myself in?  It was a question I couldn’t decide until Nell told me 
something that turned my world upside down.  She was pregnant!

Absent Without Leave

Soldiers wounded on the Somme aboard a hospital train

Hull Daily Mail - Wednesday 5 July 1916 (above) and 
Mon 3rd July 1916 (right)
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How could I go back now that Nell was carrying my baby?  I knew what lay in store 
for me if I did.  There might still be a few individuals, who’d read about what Captain 

Billy Nevill did on the first day of the Somme and thought life in the trenches was like 
Saturday afternoon at the Goldstone,* but I knew better. I knew that if I went back it 
was quite likely I’d never see the face of my unborn child.  I know it was wrong, but what 
would you have done if you were in my shoes?  
*The Goldstone = Brighton’s ground

In October 1915, The War Illustrated featured the story of the 
Footballer of Loos (see page 55) with a subtle twist - their illustration 
placed an officer in Frank Edward’s role! One man undoubtedly 
influenced by this version of the story was Captain Billy Nevill of the 
East Surrey Regiment, who would repeat Edward’s daring deed on the 
first day of the Battle of the Somme, 1st July 1916.  Nevill purchased 
four balls, one for each of his platoons, and offered a prize for whoever could advance furthest into German lines.  
Nevill painted onto one: “The Great European Cup. The Final. East Surrey’s v Bavarians. Kick off at Zero” and on 
another “No Referee.”  Nevill was to die in the attack on what would become one of the most infamous days in the 
history of the British army.  Perhaps because of this, in later years, Captain Nevill and the East Surrey’s story stole 
much of Frank Edwards and the London Irish Regiment’s thunder.

The War Illustrated October 1915

Captain Billy Nevill

Peter Daniel



My head was already all over the place when I heard in August 1916 that my younger 
brother Joe had been killed on the Somme.  He was only nineteen.  He had his whole 

life ahead of him but it had been snuffed out like a candle. There’s no glory in dying so 
young. The ones who think there is, are the armchair heroes.  The same brave types who’ve 
been fainting in the aisles watching the Battle of the Somme film at the flicks.*            
*flicks = cinema

Private Joseph Greenhalf’s medal card.       National Archives

Pom Pom’s brother Joe was killed in the fierce fighting at the aptly named 
Delville Wood above.  Imperial War Museum

Pom Pom’s brother Private Joseph Greenhalf.
Peter Burgess

Kent & Sussex Courier  Fri 20th October 1916
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“The Battle of the Somme” was the 
world’s first war documentary. It 
shocked audiences who had no idea 
of the horrors of WW1.

Source 46. Pom Pom’s brother Joe



Court Martialled

I knew the Redcaps* would get me eventually and they did. On the 13th October 1916 
after 133 days on the run I was arrested and taken to Hove Magistrates Court.  I was 

collected from the court by a military escort and then held in a military prison to await a 
return to France for my court martial. I left Folkestone on the 18th November, 1916 as a 
prisoner so there was no romantic farewell for me.  Nell was now five months pregnant so 
it broke my heart to think what I was leaving behind me in Blighty.           
*Redcap= Military Police

HOVE MAGISTRATES’ COURT
ALBION FOOTBALLER AS ABSENTEE
On Saturday Robert Whiting, a private in 
the Footballers’ Battalion of the Middlesex 
Regiment, was remanded to await an escort.  
He was charged with being an absentee since 
June last, but pleaded not guilty on the ground 
that he had been suffering from a complaint 
for which he entered hospital in May. 
Defendant told Detective-Sergeant Adlam that 
he had been treated in hospital, and that he 
was not in a fit condition to travel.
Whiting was before the war the goalkeeper of 
the Brighton and Hove Football Club, and a 
very well-known figure in the football world.

As a prisoner awaiting trial Pom Pom would not have been allowed to 
spend time with Nell before he returned to France so there would be no 
romantic farewell for him.  Peter Daniel

The Brighton Herald, 21st October, 1916

‘Blighty’ card Fred Spurgin   Peter Daniel
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Source 47. Arrested



I didn’t know it at that time but Nell gave birth to our son Joe on the day of my court 
martial in Albert, 26th February 1917.  I will never forget hearing the news. I had just 

been found guilty and sentenced to nine months hard labour, when Nell’s letter arrived with 
the news. I remember looking at the famous statue of the Virgin and her baby that clung 
precariously above the ruined town and thinking we had something in common. If she 
could hang on to that child and see out this war then maybe I could do the same thing too.

The statue of the ‘Golden Virgin’ - on top of the Basilica of 
Notre-Dame de Brebières, Albert (pictured left) was hit by 
a shell in 1915, and slumped to a near-horizontal position, 
where however it remained until further shelling in 1918 
destroyed it. A superstition grew that whoever made the 
statue fall would lose the war, and so Royal Engineers wired 
supports to keep it and British morale up.  Peter Daniel

Hard labour consisted of sewing mail bags, oakum picking, 
(tearing up old ropes) and stone breaking. The jobs were 
meant to be boring and had to be carried out in silence. A 
military prison was set up near Dyce in north Scotland for 
deserters where they worked in a granite quarry.  

F.G.C.M. (Field General Court Martial)
Charge: When on active service absenting 

himself whilst on leave 3/6/16 to 
13/10/16 (133 days)

Finding: Guilty
Sentence: Hard Labour for 9 months
Awaiting: Trial from 12/12/16
5.3.17 5th Army Sentence suspended
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Pom Pom’s trial 
began on the 
26.2.17

Source 48. Casualty Form Active Service



Name: Robert Whiting

Age: 30 years 11 months
Height: 5 feet and 9 1/2 inches
Expansion: 4 inches
Distinctive 
marks:

Scar on both knees

Next of kin: Robert Whiting (father) 
West Ham crossed out 
and replaced by Sarah 
Whiting wife

Marriage to Nellie Whiting (spinster) St 
John’s Church Tunbridge Wells. 12 August 
1907. 9 Corbridge Street, Hove Sussex

Robert Leonard 2 March 1908
Tunbridge Wells

Willliam James 5 Sept 1908
Hove Sussex

Joseph Fredrick 26 Feb 1917
Tunbridge Wells

Joined up Hove 31 Dec 1914

Attested 31 Dec 1914
Appointed L Cpl 11 Feb 1915
Promoted L Sge 17 June 1915
Reveted to Private 2 Aug 1915
Posted Private 23 May 1916
Posted Private 18 Nov 1916
In arrest awaiting trial 12 Dec 1916

After 133 days of absence from Army --Pom Pom Whiting was caught and sentenced to 9 months hard labour in a 
Military Prison.  If he had deserted whist in France he may have faced death by firing squad for such an offence.

26.2.17
Sentenced by FGCM (Field General Court 
Martial) to 9 months hard labour for absence on 
active service from 3.6.16 to 13.10.16 (133 days)Descriptive report on Enlistment for Pte Robert Whiting.   

National Archives
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Source 49. Birth of Joe Whiting



About a week after Joe was born I was offered the chance to redeem myself.  A new 
offensive was being planned and after the slaughter that had occurred at the Somme 

in 1916, the army was desperately short of men.  I was offered the chance to accept a 
suspended sentence if I would agree to go back to re-join the Football Battallion for the 
planned attack.  I knew I now had a black mark against my name, and I couldn’t bear to 
think my boys might one day be ashamed of me, so I agreed to go back.   

Charge Maximum Penalty

Misbehaving in front of the 
enemy in such a manner as to 
show cowardice

Death

Causing mutiny in the forces, 
or endeavoring to persuade 
persons in HM forces to join 
in a mutiny

Death

Striking his superior officer Death

Deserting HM service, or at-
tempting to desert

Death

Offering violence or using 
threatening language to his 
superior officer

Penal Servitude

Why was Pom Pom’s sentence suspended?
Pom Pom’s sentence of 9 months of hard labour after 
deserting for 133 days was suspended because Commanding 
Officer Hubert Gough needed troops for his new offensive at 
Arras.  Gough himself gave approval for the suspension.
Pom Pom had missed one of the largest battles in the First 
World War, the Battle of the Somme. Over 420,000 soldiers 
lost their lives here leaving the army desperately short of men 
for what would later be known as the Battle of Arras.

 17th Middlesex Regiment
 Sentence  of 9 months IHL (Hard Labour) Suspended
 (authority Fifty Army Commander in Chief)

General Hubert Gough.   Imperial War Museum

A soldier receives his sentence at court martial

Pom Pom did not go absent without leave in France and Flanders if he had he would have been executed. During 
the Great War the British Army wanted to set examples to the troops. “Do not walk away from  our war - we shoot 
you if you do.” On the battlefield men could be shot for desertion, cowardice (even if it was caused by shell shock or 
other mental affections), and other breaches of discipline. 
British court martials condemned 306 soldiers to be shot at dawn. Among them were 25 Canadians, 22 Irishmen 
and 5 New-Zealanders. Australia was the only country that did not want its soldiers (all volunteers) to be executed.
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Source 50. The General



I haven’t had time to dwell on the birth of my Joe as the last few weeks since his birth 
have been filled with preparations for the big offensive.  The Germans have retreated 
back behind their Hindenberg Line, a formidable line of defence named after one of their 
generals. As we’ve moved through the towns they have vacated we’ve discovered they’ve 
destroyed everything. Villages have been flattened, wells poisoned, trees cut down to 
useless stumps and roads destroyed.  They’ve also left us a few presents in the form of 
booby-traps that have put us on constant guard.  On the 9th April, 1917 the Battle of Arras 
began and we’re now waiting our turn to be flung against their new front line.

General Hubert Gough, 1917.  MOD

Derby Daily Telegraph. Monday 9 April 1917

Alberich was the code name for the German withdrawal to new 
positions on the shorter, more easily defended Hindenburg 
Line which took place between 9 February and 15 March 
1917. The British referred to it as the ‘German Retreat to the 
Hindenburg Line’ but the operation was a strategic withdrawal 
rather than a retreat. 

Troops resting at Vraignes following the German retreat to the Hindenberg 
Line 20th March 1917.    IWM  Q1904

The General

“Good-morning; good-morning!” the General said  
When we met him last week on our way to the line.  
Now the soldiers he smiled at are most of ’em dead,  
And we’re cursing his staff for incompetent swine.  
“He’s a cheery old card,” grunted Harry to Jack 
As they slogged up to Arras with rifle and pack.

But he did for them both by his plan of attack. 

Siegfried Sassoon (1886–1967)  
Counter Attack and Other poems 1918
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Source 51. Operation Alberich



On 26th April we began final preparations for our attack on the Hindenberg Line. 
The day was spent preparing our kit and equipment before moving up to our assault 

positions in front of Oppy Wood. We sat and shared what food we had and sang the old 
songs perhaps for the last time. We are good friends, true friends, because the trials of 
trench life have made us know one another, because we have held money, food, shelter 
and clothing in common and shared all that we have had. We hope to meet again in a day 
or two, but it is quite certain that in the mean time, some of us will have “gone west.”* We 
all know we will not take Oppy Wood without losing lives. Who will go? Who can say? 
However all of us have written our wills and drafted what may be our last letters home.
*Gone west = to be killed

Source 52. ‘Dress and Equipment’ from the Middlesex 
Regiment War Diary, April 1917
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*

* AB64 + identify discs in top left pocket of 
jacket      and round the neck respectively.  Field 
Dressing in pocket provides for that purpose.



In 1902 khaki was adopted by the British 
Army  who were more sensible than 
the French, who wore blue coats and 

red trousers. The 
soldier was issued 
with the 1908 Pattern 
Webbing for carrying 
personal equipment 
and he was armed with 
the Short Magazine Lee 
Enfield riflle was issued. 
Gas masks became 
necessary after the first 
use of gas in 1915.

The British Army and their Imperial 
forces issued identification discs from 
the beginning of the First World War.
The discs were made of fibre, one in 
red and one in green, and suspended 
around the neck. The red tag was to 
be removed from a soldiers’ body 
when he was killed  whilst the green 
one was left to allow the body to 
be identified for burial.  Sadly the 
disc perished in the soil and many 
became unknown soldiers.

Army Pay Book AB64
The AB64 acted as a soldier’s 

ID and recorded their pay.  The 
final page, was headed Last Will 
and Testament, and had to be 
retrieved from a soldier killed 

in action. For new recruits, 
demonstration copies were used 
in the name of Thomas Atkins. 

This nick name for British soldiers, 
in use since the Napoleonic wars, 
led to British soldiers being known 

as Tommy.

Equipment item Letter

Puttees A
Gas mask B
Trench cap C
Entrenching tool D

Steel helmet E
Ammunition pouches F
Rifle G
Water bottle H

C

B

H

A

E

F

D

G
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Source 53. Final Preparations Battle



We moved up to the front line in complete silence. Words are not needed	 to describe 
the tense nervous strain of the long wait we have had this past night standing in the 

narrow crowded trenches, whilst all hell broke loose over the German lines. I’m sitting here 
with my mates from ‘B’ Company waiting for Zero hour.  We will be in the first wave and 
must capture our first objective, Oppy Wood.  It’s 4.20am now.  Just five minutes before 
the whistle blows.  I’m closing my eyes trying to focus on the faces of everyone I have ever 
loved but my baby boy Joe, despite every effort of my imagination, remains faceless. Dear 
Joe, don’t forget your daddy Pom Pom ....
.... the whistle blows.

Advancing over ‘No man’s land’ under heavy fire, Arras, April 1917.   
Library and Archives Canada/PA - 001020

Map  of Oppy Wood showing British and German Positions from Andrew Riddoch’s When the Whistle Blows
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The Whistle Blows

Source 54. First Objective (Blue Line)



Nellie’s
Grief



I’d been up all night with baby Joe when the knock on the door woke me from a fitful sleep.  
I hadn’t slept well since my Bob, that’s Pom Pom to you, returned to France, so was tired 

and confused when I took the letter from the postwoman.  I couldn’t read it in front of my 
little boys, Bob and Jim, so I told them to go outside to play.  Just two days ago I’d received a 
field postcard telling me that he was alright.  I can tell you I shook as I opened that letter. I 
read the opening words and no more… “I very much regret…”

A soldier going 
into action was 

allowed to send a 
field postcard. The 

soldier crossed 
out a selection of 
brief messages. 

No written 
messages were 

allowed.

By 1916 many 
postmen had 
been replaced 
by women so the 
men could go 
and join the war.

Sussex Daily News May 1917 78

Source 55.  
A Dastardly Rumour, 

Sussex Daily News
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Those words cut my heart in two. For a short time I did nothing, then one of my 
neighbours showed me what the press in Brighton had printed about Bob. They were 

reporting he’d been executed for desertion! Words cannot express the anger I felt. I couldn’t 
have his reputation destroyed in the town that meant so much to him. By then I had received 
a letter from Bob’s commanding officer telling me he’d been killed by a German shell and 
had died bravely trying to help his wounded mates. I went to the offices of The Sussex News 
and pleaded with them to publish the words contained in that letter which proved that Bob 
had “lost his life while attending to the wounded under fire, and died while doing his duty both 
well and nobly”.



The Football Battalion Decimated at Oppy
On 28th April, 1917, 544 men and 20 officers from the Football Battlaion took part in the attack on Oppy Wood.  
The Battalion War Diary recorded how few of these men were able to come through the battle unwounded.

17th Middlesex Regiment War Diary 28th April 1917.  National Archives

Casualty form from Pom Pom’s military record.  National Archives

Of the troops that went over the top that morning 1 officer + 41 unwounded men eventually 

found their way back while 3 wounded officers + 106 wounded O.R. (Other Ranks-ordinary 

soldiers not officers) were able to get back in the early stages of the fight.
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Source 56.  
Casualty Form - Active Service



The weeks after I heard the news are just a blur now.  I knew I would have to be strong for 
the boys, but I knew how tough life would be from now on.  I was now a single parent and 
would have to try and bring the boys up on a weekly pension of just 26 shillings and 3d 
(£1.31) and whatever I could make from taking in washing.

Kent and Sussex Courier Friday 25th May 1917

Opening of Tunbridge Wells War Memorial 1923.   Peter Daniel

Widows pension form.  
National Archives

Source 57. Widows Pension



I had to try and focus on the boys, but there was always something that would take me back 
instantly to the dark place I’d been when I first heard my Bob had been killed. There was his 
medals, ‘Pip Squeak and Wilfred’ they called them, then his ‘Dead Man’s Penny’.  Then one 
day I lost my purse in which I kept his broken wedding ring and last letter home. However 
the most emotional day of all was when they unveiled the memorial which included Bob’s 
name, in Tunbridge Wells.

The 1914-15 Star                         
Also known as ‘Pip’. This bronze medal 
similar to the 1914 Star was awarded to all 
who served in any theatre of war against 
Germany between 5th August 1914 and 
31st December 1915, except those eligible 
for the 1914 Star.

The British War Medal 1914-18 
Also known as ‘Squeak’. The silver or 
bronze medal was awarded to those who 
served between 5th August 1914 and 
11th November 1918.

The Allied Victory Medal    
Also known as ‘Wilfred.’ It was decided 
that each of the allies should each issue 
their own bronze victory medal with a 
similar design, similar equivalent wording 
and identical ribbon. Approximately 5.7 
million victory medals were issued. 

Every family that had lost 
someone in the war received a 
memorial plaque and message 
of condolence from King 
George V.  The plaques soon 
gained the nick name, ’Dead 
Man’s penny.’
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Source 58.  Pom Pom’s Medals

Opening of Tunbridge Wells Memorial 1923.
Images Peter Daniel



Above Pom Pom’s name on the Tunbridge Wells 
War memorial.  It is also on the Hove Library 
roll of honour shown below.

A new memorial to the players and supporters 
of Brighton and Hove Albion who lost their lives 
during the two World Wars. Bob Whiting, Charles 
Dexter and Jasper Batey were early recruits in the 
Footballers’ Battalion. 
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Source 59.  Remembering Pom Pom

The Hove War Memorial was unveiled on 27th February, 1921 
a simple bunch of carnations was left on it with the words, 
“To the dad I never knew.”

Pom Pom appears 
on the Roll of 
Honour in the Kent 
& Sussex Courier.. 
18th May, 1917



He has a memorial now out in France, but I can’t bring myself to go.  The boys will never 
forget him and not because he was a footballer or a soldier, but because he was their dad 
who put his family first before anything.

Pom Pom is remembered on Bay 7 of the Arras 
War Memorial in France (right). The Arras War 
Memorial contains the names of 34,793 identified 
casualties who died in the fighting around Arras. 

In May 1917, Nellie (Sarah) Whiting was informed that 
her Pom Pom had been killed on active duty in France 
and been “buried very near the scene of the action 
near Vimy Ridge”. Sadly his grave was later destroyed 
in the fierce fighting that took place in the area and so 
Pom Pom has no known grave.  His name is inscribed 
on a panel on the Arras War Memorial in France, one 
of nearly 35,000 men who have no resting place. 

The Arras Memorial

Pom Pom’s three sons, Robert, Jim and Joe. The Whiting Family
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Source 60. No Known Grave in France

Kent & Sussex Courier. Friday 25th May, 1917



Education
Activities



Dear Nell,

Describe what Colours you would see?

What evidence of the war can you see around  you?

What can you hear?

What can you smell?

What emotions do you feel?

With  all my love, Pom Pom

Activity
Use Pom Pom’s description of life in the trenches (pages 54-60) to write a letter home to his wife Nellie.

A Letter to Nellie
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Not Forgotten: Pom Pom Whiting
Activity
Visit your local war memorial and write down five names from those listed on the panels. Research these 
individuals using the Commonwealth War Graves website (www.cwgc.org) using the instructions below.

Name Rank Service 
Number

Date of 
Death

Age Nationality Regiment Additional 
Information

Robert 
Whiting

Private F74 28.4.1917 34 British 17th Battalion 
Middlesex 
Regiment

Husband of Mrs. N. 
Whiting of 3 Albion 
Square, Tunbridge 
Wells, Kent.

1.	 Visit www.cwgc.org.
2.	 click on the ‘search our records’ option on the menu.
3.	 Fill in the names of the 5 soldiers you have found on your local memorial on the ‘Debt of 

Honour Register’.
4.	 Click ‘submit’ - You should see more information appear about each soldier.
5.	 Use this information to complete the information section on the table above.
6.	 Choose one of your soldiers in the table and click ‘print a certificate’ for them.
7.	 Log onto The War Graves Photographic Project http://twgpp.org/search.php. You can order 

a photograph of the grave or memorial of the soldier you are researching on this site.  It also 
sometimes lists information not shown on the CWGC site.

Instructions
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Interpreting CWGC Information:

1.	 Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting was a Private-the lowest rank in the army.  He had been 
demoted from Lance Sergeant.

2.	 Pom Pom belonged to the Middlesex Regiment (“The Football Battalion”), and was in the 
17th Battalion. A battalion is about 800 men.

3.	 Pom Pom’s army number was F74.  He would have known this by heart and worn it 
around his neck on his dog tags used to identify casualties.

4.	 Date of Pom Pom’s death.  He died on the 28th April 1917 aged 34 at the Battle of Arras.
5.	 This section shows Pom Poms next of kin, his wife Nellie .  The address was used by the 

army to issue memorial death plaques.
6.	 Location of grave.  Pom Pom has no known grave so his name is listed on a memorial. 

526,816 British soldiers who were killed in WW1 have no known grave but are 
remembered on memorials abroad and often in their home towns. 

In Memory of 
Private ROBERT WHITING

F74, 17th BN., Middlesex Regiment

who died on 28th April 1917 Age 34

Husband of Mrs.N.Whiting, of 3 Albion Square, 
Tunbridge Wells, Kent

Remembered with honour
ARRAS MEMORIAL 

2

3

4

5

1

6
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Pom Pom in the Headlines

Activity
Read through Pom Pom’s story and select an incident from his life to create a newspaper story.

Introduction (who, what, where and why)

Further Detail (expand on one or two aspects of the story to provide more information)

Eyewitness account (look at the previous page, include this in the newspaper article)

Conclusion (give a brief summary of the whole report)

Headline
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In Memoriam: Pom Pom Whiting
An epitaph is a short inscription on a 
gravestone in memory of the person buried 
there.
Rudyard Kipling was a famous author and 
poet especially famous for writing ‘The Jungle 
Book’ based on his experiences of growing up 
in India. He drafted the epitaph seen on the 
graves of unknown soldiers:

‘A Soldier of the Great War Known Only Unto God.’  He also selected 
the words used on many memorials for those with no known grave: 
‘Their name liveth for evermore.’

Rudyard Kipling

My Son Jack
‘Have you news of my boy 

Jack?’ 
Not this tide. 

‘When d’you think that he’ll 
come back?’ 

Not with this wind blowing, 
and this tide’ 

Read the 
first verse 
of Rudyard 
Kiplings 
poem 
‘My Son Jack’

Now read ‘A Son’ 
by Kipling. How do 
you think he felt 
knowing that he’d 
persuaded his son 
to join the army?

A Son
My son was killed while 
laughing at some jest.  I 

would
I knew

What it was, and it might 
serve me in a time when 

jests are few.

Activity
Imagine you are Nellie 
Whiting and you want to 
write a fitting epitaph for 
your husband.

•	 Use the six images that 
appeared on this advert 
for the Widow’s fund

•	 Use the images to help 
you think of how Nellie 
felt about Pom Pom’s 
life and death as a 
soldier in the Football 
Battalion.

•	 Use the template 
overleaf to write 
your first draft of his 
epitaph.

•	 When you are happy 
with what you have 
written design a stained 
glass window memorial 
to bring alive your 
words.
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In Memoriam: Pom Pom Whiting

Sort out my list of words and phrases 
(Now look at your words and phrases. Can you put them into an order that creates 

a mood and tone of what you are trying to say?)

My list of words and phrases 
(write a list of words or phrases for your epitaph)

The final draft of my poem
(Ask a partner to read through what you have written. What works well?  What isn’t clear and needs 
improving? When you have done this give your epitaph a title and write your final draft in this box)
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Activity
•	 Read through Pom Pom’s story 
•	 Write your own epitaph for Pom Pom. Remember that epitaphs are 

usually quite short, four lines are usually enough.
•	 When you have written your epitaph, create a stained glass window 

that illustrates your epitaph using the template on page 94.



In Memoriam: Pom Pom Whiting

Activity
•	 Use the storybook to develop a football themed design for your stained glass window.
•	 Include your epitaph for Pom Pom below your design.
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Source 1
Birth Certificate 
1883

When was he born? What name was he born with? What was his 
father’s profession?

Source 2
Match Girls 
Photograph

Pom Pom’s mother Margaret worked in the same factory as the girls in this picture.  What 
was it called?

Source 3
Docklands Map

Where did Pom Pom first find work when he left school?

Source 4
1891 Census 
Canning Town

What were Pom Pom’s brothers and sisters called?

Source 5
Pom Pom’s First 
Club

What was the first team that Pom Pom played for called?

Source 6
1901 Census 
Canning Town

Who were the two new additions to the Whiting family since 1891?

Source 7
Pom Pom’s 
Nickname

What was a Pom Pom and why was Bob Whiting compared to it?

Source 8
F.A.Cup Hero

Who did Pom Pom star against in the F.A. Cup?

Source 9
Chelsea Chairman 
and Manager

Who were the Chairman and Manager of Chelsea when Pom Pom signed for the club?

Source 10
Stamford Bridge 
Then and Now

What can you see on both pictures that has not changed since  the first picture was taken in 
1909?

Source 11
Hull Daily 
22.11.1905

How much did Billy ‘Fatty’ Foulke weigh?

Activity
•	 Use the sources provided for you to fill in Pom Pom’s biographical details in 

the table below.
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Source 12
Chelsea Debut

Who did Pom Pom play against on his Chelsea debut?

Source 13
Chelsea team Group and 
Kits

What was the colour of the Chelsea shirt that Pom Pom wore when he played for 
Chelsea?

Source 14
Chelsea European Tour 
1906

Chelsea twice won 6-0 during their European tour.  Who were they playing in these 
games?

Source 15
Chelsea Triumph

Where did Chelsea finish in Division 2 after this first full season with the club?

Source 16
Pom Pom Profile 

What did the Chelsea programme claim that Pom Pom could do with his goal kicks?

Source 17
Marriage Certificate 

When and where did Pom Pom get married?

Source 18
London Derby

Pom Pom played in the first ever top league London derby.  Who was it against and 
what was the score?

Source 19
Pom Pom’s Old China

Who was Pom Pom’s old China?

Source 20
Pom Pom’s Chelsea Career 
Match by Match 1906

What was the score when Pom Pom kept goal against Fatty Foulke’s Bradford City?

Source 21
Pom Pom’s Chelsea Career 
Match by Match 1906 
Stamford Bridge Then and 
Now

Pom Pom first lost his place in the Chelsea goal after the match against Forest on 21st 
September.  Why?

Source 22
Dropped by Chelsea

Why did Pom Pom finally lose his Chelsea place after the match against Bury?

Source 23
Transfer to the Seaside

Which club did Pom Pom join on leaving Chelsea?

Source 24
Brighton 1910 
Championship

In what year did Pom Pom win the Southern League with Brighton and how many goals 
did he concede?
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Source 25
Charity Shield 1910

Who did Brighton beat to win the Charity Shield in 1910 and what was the score?

Source 26
1911 Census Hove

What is Pom Pom’s occupation on the 1911 census?

Source 27
1911 Census Tunbridge 
Wells

Who is Nellie and the Whiting children living with in 1911?

Source 28
War is Declared

What is the name of the former Chelsea player arrested as an ‘alien’ in 1914?

Source 29
Recruiting the Football 
Battalion

What did the poster claim the Germans believed Britons would rather do than fight?

Source 30
Pom Pom’s Attestation

How old was Pom Pom when he joined the army?

Source 31
Medical History

How tall was Pom Pom and how much did he weigh?

Source 32
Brighton Team of 
1914-1915

How many footballers in this picture were to die in the war?

Source 33
Training to be Soldiers

Where was the Football Battalion’s London training base?

Source 34
James Ridley

How did Pom Pom know James Ridley?

Source 35
A scathing Indictment

How many professional players had joined the Football Battalion by March 1915?

Source 36
The 1915 F.A. Cup Final

What was the name that this F.A. Cup Final came to be known as?

Source 37
Final Game at the Bridge

When did Pom Pom play his final match at Stamford Bridge?
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Source 38
Training for the Front

Where was the Football Battalion’s Nottinghamshire training base?

Source 39
Pom Pom’s Letter to Albert 
Underwood 7.12.15

What were the names of the Brighton players with Pom Pom in the trenches?

Source 40
The Big Match

Where was the ‘Big Match’ played that Pom Pom talks about in his letter?

Source 41
Trench Warfare

How many bullets per minute did a machine gun fire?

Source 42
All Work and Very Little 
Play

What was the German weapon that annoyed Pom Pom most in the trenches?

Source 43
Shell Shock

Who was Pom Pom’s fellow Lance Sergeant who was sent home with shell shock?

Source 44
Army Hostpital Admission 
Form

What was the disease that led to Pom Pom being taken to hospital?

Source 45
Pom Pom’s Hospital 
Treatment

How did the hospital in Brighton treat Pom Pom’s disease?

Source 46
Pom Pom’s Brother Joe

When was Pom Pom’s brother Joe killed?

Source 47
Arrested

What reason did Pom Pom give the court at Hove as to why he had not returned back 
for duty?

Source 48
Casualty Form Active 
Service

What was the date of Pom Pom’s Court Martial and where was it held?

Source 49
Birth of Joe Whiting

When was Joe Whiting born? What was the strange coincidence about that date?

Investigation: Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting
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Source 50
The General

What was the name of the General who suspended Pom Pom’s sentence?

Source 51
Operation Albeich

What was the name of the German defensive line that they retreated behind?

Source 52
Middlesex Regiment War 
Diary April 1917: Dress and 
Equipment

What did each soldier have to carry to identify themselves in case they were killed in 
battle?

Source 53
Final Preparations for 
Battle

What did each soldier have to write in the back of their pay book?

Source 54
First Objective (Blue Line)

What was the name of the wood that Pom Pom’s B Company had to capture?

Source 55
A Dastardly Rumour in the 
Sussex Daily News

What was the dastardly rumour that Nellie had to deal with?

Source 56
Casualty form Active 
Service

What date was Pom Pom killed in action?

Source 57
Widow’s Pension

How much money did Pom Pom’s wife receive for her Widow’s pension?

Source 58
Pom Pom’s Medals

What were the nicknames of the three medals awarded to Pom Pom?

Source 59
Remembering Pom Pom

Where is Pom Pom remembered in Britain?

Source 60
No Known Grave in France

What was the name of the memorial in France which includes Pom Pom’s name on it?

Investigation: Robert ‘Pom Pom’ Whiting



TUNBRIDGE WELLS
PTE. R. Whiting

We last week published a photo of Pte R. Whiting, of whom a Chaplain has written to his 
wife, Mrs. Whiting, 10, Alboin-square, St. John’s, Tunbridge Wells, to the effect that he had 
been killed by shell-fire on the 28th of April, although official news had not been received 
last weekend by the War Office. The Chaplain’s intimation that the popular footballer had 
met his death while in action has now been officially verified, and his widow desires to return 
thanks for numerous expressions of sympathy in her bereavement. Mrs. Whiting is left with 
three children, the youngest being three months, and born while its father was at the Front. In 
addition to the usual document from Headquarters, Mrs. Whiting has received the appended 
letter from the Adjutant to the Middlesex Regiment- “I very much regret to have to inform 
you that your husband, No. F74 Pte. R Whiting, of this Battalion, was killed in action on the 
28th of last month. He was killed instantaneously by shell fire in the most recent offensive 
operations. Will you please accept my sincere sympathy in your loss.” 
	
Mr. Whiting senior in his recent bereavement in the loss of his daughter. Robert Whiting 
or “Pom-pom.” as he was known among the sporting fraternity, rendered yeoman service to 
Tunbridge Wells Rangers as a goalkeeper. He was eventually transferred to Chelsea, and it is 
no exaggeration to say his brilliant “keeping” gained the Pensioners a place in Division 1 of 
the League. Subsequently he joined Brighton and Hove Albion and proved a valuable asset 
to that club who held his signature when he joined the Colours. His kick-off from goal was 
remarkable and the delight of the “gods;” in fact on more than one occasion he drove the 
ball from one goal area to the opposite square- a matter of a hundred yards. Sport has lost a 
brilliant and popular defender.

Kent and Sussex Courier

Pom Pom after his move to Brighton in 1908.
 BHA Collectors’ and Historians’ Society
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3 May 1918
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of a good husband and 
father, Pte Robert Whiting, killed in action in France on 
April 28th, 1917. “Gone but not forgotten.”- Wife and 
Children

In everlasting memory of my dear daddy, Private R, 
Whiting 17th Middlesex, killed in action April 28th 
1917- From his little son Joey whom he never saw.

Kent and Sussex Courier, 16 February 1923

When the Hove War Memorial was unveiled on 27 

February 1921 a simple bunch of carnations was left 

on it with the words, “To the Dad I never knew.”

28 April 1922

Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband, 

Robert Whiting, killed in action in France, April 28th 

1917. To-day recalls sad memories of our loved one gone 

to rest. Those who think of him to-day Are those who 

loved him best. - Widow and ChildrenWhiting- In ever-loving memory of a good husband 
and father, Pte Robert Whiting, killed in action in 
France on April 28th 1917. “Gone but not forgotten.”
Wife and Children

‘Pom Whiting, has I am afraid “gone west.” He went down 

for the stretcher-bearers and while leading them up a shell 

came over and dropped amongst them. Poor old Pom- he 

was one of the best. We were cracking a few jokes together 

two days previously.’  Tim Coleman quoted in Liverpool 

Echo 8th May 1917

22 April 1927
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear 
husband, Robert Whiting killed in action in France 
April 28th 1917- From his Widow and three sons.
“Gone but not forgotten, Today recalls sad memories 
of our loved one, gone to rest; And those who think of 
him today Are those who loved him best.”
Kent and Sussex Courier

1 May 1925
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband, 
Robert Whiting killed in action in France April 18th 1917- 
From his Widow and Children

“He is not lost, but only gone a little while before, He waits to 
welcome those he loved on that bright heavenly shore.”

Kent and Sussex Courier

26 April 1929
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband Pte Robert Whiting, killed in France April 28th 1917
“As we loved him, so we miss him, In our memory he is dear; Loved, remembered, longed for always, Bringing many a silent tear.”- From his Widow and three sons
Kent and Sussex Courier

2 May 1930
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband 

Robert Whiting killed in action April 28th 1917 “Gone 

but not forgotten.”- From his Widow and Children

Kent and Sussex Courier

30 April 1926
Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband, 
Robert Whiting, killed in France April 28th 1917. “Gone 
but not forgotten.”- From his Widow and Children

“Duty called and he was there, To do his bit and take his 
share, His heart was good his spirit brave. He’s resting in a 
hero’s grave.”
Kent and Sussex Courier

29 April 1921

Whiting- In ever-loving memory of my dear husband, 

Robert Whiting, killed in action in France April 28th 

1917- From his Widow and Children

“Gone but not forgotten.”

Kent and Sussex Courier
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Each year on the anniversary of Pom Pom’s 
death, 28th April 1917, Nellie paid for a tribute 
to be published in the local newspaper.
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